NEOLIBERALISM AND CASE MANAGERS' TOOLS AT A FEDERAL PUBLIC SERVICE AGENCY

NEOLIBERALISM AND CASE MANAGERS' TOOLS AT A FEDERAL PUBLIC SERVICE AGENCY

BY HEATHER M. STREET

Bachelor of Social Work, Bachelor of Arts (Sociology)

McMaster University, 1998

A Thesis

Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

For the Degree

Master of Social Work
McMaster University

© Copyright by Heather M. Street, August 2012

Abstract

Neoliberalism and the new managerialism have become entrenched in Canadian social policy. This paper is an examination of how neoliberal philosophy and the new managerialism are embodied in case managers' tools. The setting for this research is Veterans Affairs Canada. Presently, Veterans Affairs Canada is in the process of transforming policy and practice. Veterans Affairs Canada has implemented a managerial business model as the foundation of its transformation initiative.

This research examines how the ruling relations of the macro level have infiltrated the local practice of case managers. Institutional ethnography is utilized to examine the texts used by case managers. It is important to research the relationship between case managers' tools and managerialism in order to understand impacts on the role, practice and discretion of case managers. Only by having a full understanding of the relationship between the underlying power structures of neoliberalism and managerialism can social workers fully appreciate the negative impacts to client service. Through this understanding, social workers can more effectively advocate for their clients and find ways to implement change.

Acknowledgements

I would like to begin by thanking my thesis supervisor Stephanie Baker-Collins for all of her insight and direction. I would also like to thank the staff at Veterans Affairs Canada who supported me in working towards this degree.

There are numerous close friends who have provided continuous support and encouragement. In particular, I would like to recognize my confidante and "editor" Robyn Perry who ceaselessly tolerated me throughout this entire process. Also of special importance is the "gang" (Granny, John, Bert & Rich) who encouraged me all the way.

None of what I have accomplished would have been possible if it were not for my family. My mother Mona, sister Audrey and son Gerrit are a constant source of inspiration and support. I thank you for your endless patience and encouragement. Though no longer physically with us, my two brothers Dwayne and Willy continue to inspire and motivate me. I love you all so much. Finally, to my partner Paul Deane – thank you, I love you and "tbiytc." Thank you, all of you, for always believing in me when I did not believe in myself.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction.		1
Literature Review		4
	- Neoliberalism and the New Managerialism	. 4
	- Conflicting Priorities	. 9
	- Standardization	13
	- Lack of Clients' Voice	. 14
	- Ideology Driving Case Managers' Tools	. 15
Theoretical F	Perspective & Methodology	. 19
Changes at Veterans Affairs Canada: A "Modernization Agenda		. 28
	- Changes in the Treatment of "Traditional" Veterans	. 30
	- New Tools for New Veterans	32
Veterans Affairs Canada and the Transformation Strategy		. 48
	- The New Business Plan	. 48
	- Case Managers and Conflicting Priorities	. 53
	- Case Managers and Changes to Their Role and Practice	. 62
	- Case Managers and Standardization	63
Discussion and Conclusion		66
	- Individualism and Clients' Voice	. 66
	- The Ideology Behind Case Managers' Tools	. 69
	- Case Management and Risk Assessment	. 71
Implications for Social Work Practice		.74
Appendices		. 77
Ribliography		Q3

INTRODUCTION

I have always been intrigued by power and power imbalances. Who has the power? Why do they have it and not this person or group? Why do power imbalances exist? How are power imbalances created? How are power imbalances perpetuated? How do we unconsciously and unknowingly contribute to power imbalances?

I was not in my career as a social worker long when I began to observe the power of documents and texts on client service delivery. My career as a social worker began in the health care system. Health care professionals were completely focused on fulfilling the requirements of their texts which were usually an assessment form specific to their profession. Many of the forms consisted of text boxes. Health care professionals were so focused on fulfilling the requirements of their text that they often disregarded other information the client provided. This was evidenced in various ways such as cutting the client off verbally, redirecting them back to the question, simply ignoring the client, advising the client that they should tell this information to another professional not them. At times I even witnessed health care professionals become irritated with clients and instruct them that "yes or no" would be sufficient.

I saw this same scene play out time and time again regardless of where I was employed. The more I witnessed this phenomenon the more intrigued I

became. More and more I wondered about power, underlying power structures and power imbalances.

Being employed at Veterans Affairs Canada has fuelled this fascination. Veterans Affairs Canada (VAC), in many ways, is an anomaly. Historically, VAC has been a federal government department that has remained relatively unscathed during hard economic times in order to continue to provide services to its clients. This does not mean that VAC has not changed over the years in order to meet the needs of its aging clientele. But their client numbers were always high and the operating budgets have not been scrutinized or reduced. This is no longer the case.

Veterans Affairs Canada is now transforming itself. In this process of change new policies, directives and practices are being developed and implemented. These changes include case managers being assigned new "tools" to conduct their work. These changes and new case managers' tools heightened my interest in power, underlying power structures and power imbalances. What is the relationship between macro, meso and micro levels? What is the relationship between underlying invisible power structures and front-line practice? How is the relationship between underlying invisible power structures and front-line practice evident in case managers' tools? How does the presence of managerialism in case managers' tools affect the work of case managers? Ultimately, how does all of this affect client service delivery? Do case managers have any power? If case

managers do have power, where is it and how can it be exercised to advocate for their clients?

This research is an opportunity to address my interest in underlying power structures and its relationship to case managers' tools. The research question for this thesis asks how neoliberal philosophy and the new managerialism are embodied in tools used by case managers. The setting for this research question is Veterans Affairs Canada. It is important to understand how neoliberalism and the new managerialism are embodied in case managers' tools for several reasons. First of all, it is important to understand how the embodiment of neoliberalism and the new managerialism in case managers' tools may impact the practice of case management. Secondly, it is important to understand if the embodiment of neoliberalism and the new managerialism in case managers' tools would impact the role and focus of case management. Lastly, it is also important to understand if the embodiment of neoliberalism and the new managerialism in case managers' tools impacts case managers' discretion. These are important to understand because ultimately, Veterans Affairs Canada, like any other social service agency, exists to serve its clients. Therefore, the aim of my research is discovering how neoliberalism and the new managerialism is embodied in case managers' tools in order to understand how these power dynamics and invisible power structures are impacting the everyday practice of case managers and how this is may be impacting client service delivery.

LITERATURE REVIEW

This literature review will begin with defining the concepts of neoliberalism and the new managerialism. In order to fully understand in what ways neoliberalism and the new managerialism is embedded in case managers' tools at Veterans Affairs Canada, a description of what is being defined as neoliberalism and managerialism is required. This will be followed by outlining the prominent themes in the literature regarding neoliberalism, the new managerialism and case managers' tools. The identified themes of conflicting priorities for case managers, standardization, lack of clients' voice, and ideology driving case managers' tools, are relevant in determining how neoliberalism and the new managerialism impact case managers' tools and the everyday practice of case managers. Gaps in the literature have also been identified and will be discussed following the themes.

Neoliberalism and the New Managerialism

In order to understand how neoliberalism and the new managerialism are present in case managers' tools; an understanding of what these concepts are is required. Brodie (1999) states that neoliberalism has been the driving force behind the dismantling of Canada's welfare state, once commonly referred to publicly as Canada's "social safety net." Neoliberal ideology entered into the

Canadian political landscape in the 1980s and endorses individualism and engagement with the market as the means of achieving goals thereby transforming citizens into consumers and public goods into products (Reinders, 2008). Residualism is at the heart of neoliberalism whereby the individual relies on the open market to have their needs met as the state is a provider of last resort and then provides only minimally. To accomplish this, neoliberal policies endorse a strong focus on employment and regulate the entering and the exiting of the labour market (Penna et al, 2000). Furthermore, neoliberalism promotes the belief that the private provision of services is inherently superior to public provision, and in competition as the way to efficiency (George & Wilding, 2002).

Neoliberalism is based on the three principles of privatization, decentralization, and individualization (Brodie, 1999). Privatization is the transfer of services and benefits once provided by the state to the market. This process results in services being transformed to the point where they are understood and regulated differently. For example, institutions are no longer perceived in terms of how well they care for clients but in how cost effective they are. Decentralization is a process of disseminating responsibilities and its associated accountabilities from the state to numerous others. Decentralization also results in fiscal downloading from federal governments to the provinces that then transfer fiscal constraints down to the local and municipal governments. Individualization is the

principle of looking at one's self and family for needed resources as opposed to the government.

Neoliberalism seeks to remove concepts of socialism and collectivity from the state and from the cultural perspective and replaces it with individualism and individual blame for one's social location. This means that the government truly is an avenue of last resort for citizens to have their needs met, if an avenue of support at all. Neoliberalism is only concerned with providing minimal levels of supports in order to preserve the free liberties of individuals (Penna et al, 2000). Neoliberal ideology does not subscribe to the needs of citizens, but endorses that citizens are "consumers" with "choices" that can be met by the market (Reinders, 2008). Individuals are no longer counseled regarding their needs but instead have their demands served (Reinders, 2008).

Managerialism can be conceptualized as the practice of neoliberalism at the institutional and agency level. Managerialism involves processes and practices that make neoliberal ideology a reality. The new managerialism adopts "promarket approaches" and business managerial models of work organization (Baines, 2008). According to Baines (2008), these managerial models result in case managers losing the power to "control their work lives and activities" (p. 124). Furthermore, promarket approaches and business managerial practices strive for continual improvement to the practice of case management while at the same time narrowing the skills of case managers. This is then reframed as

"reskilling" which many case managers have noted as a loss of their skills and control (Baines, 2008). These managerial models incorporate "standardized work practices to eliminate error and waste" (Baines, 2008:124) and include the reduction of the frequency and amount of time spent with clients as documentation and administrative tasks are drastically increased.

Managers are considered the key personnel to enforce the new managerial practices of improved efficiency (Tsui & Cheung, 2004). Case managers are responsible to implement what managers tell them to as managers are viewed as the ones to truly deliver results (Tsui & Cheung, 2004).

Managerialism strives to achieve efficiency through such objectives as cost-control; accountability; performance measures; quality assurance; financial transparency; and, standardization to name a few (Reinders, 2008; Baines 2008).

It can be argued that objectives such as cost-cutting, accountability, financial transparency, quality assurance, performance measures, and standardization, should be held up as ideal principles. For instance, many tax-payers, shareholders, or any other group of invested people would want to know these principles are an expectation as this may be viewed to many as the virtues of accountability and responsibility. Furthermore, professionals such as case managers are responsible to meet certain standards and abilities and many may

view performance measures and quality assurance as objective ways of ensuring professional practice and the ability to provide quality client service.

What is important in the discussion of neoliberalism and managerialism is not that these principles are wrong or should not be part of any organizational practice. What can cause the negative effects of neoliberalism and managerialism, such as the dismantling of the welfare state, is how these objectives are implemented, the reasoning behind why they are being implemented the way they are, and, for example, in how and what is held accountable and standardized. For instance, if the bottom line is more desirable to an institution than the quality of the client service, and the focus on the institution is how the bottom line is achieved, such as through standardization and cost-cutting which decreases and/or removes client services, then managerial and neoliberal objectives create negative effects for citizens.

Another concern is with respect to quality assurance and performance measures. Performance measures and quality assurance requirements that case managers are subjected to may not have anything to do with professional standards but in having completed administrative tasks on time and/or in the way in which the institution is demanding administrative tasks to be completed. In this sense then, this is an example of how quality and performance serves to eliminate error and waste, as Baines (2008) stated, so institutions can report on

how they are being accountable by putting the focus on performance and quality of case management practice rather than client service delivery.

The concepts of neoliberalism and the new managerialism have been defined. The phrase "neoliberalism and the new managerialism" will, for the most part, be reduced to the new managerialism or managerialism for the remainder of this paper.

Conflicting Priorities

The literature indicates that managerialism has created conflicting priorities for case managers. While case managers may have always had to juggle conflicting priorities of some type, the literature connects specific conflicting priorities as the direct result of managerialism and its impact on case management practice. In addition, the literature states that these conflicting priorities are ever present and unchanging and are beyond the ability of the case manager to change since they are a result of how case managers are now supposed to conduct their practice.

Professional Values:

Conflicting priorities exist when case managers are torn between what their workplace demands and their own professional values and commitment to client well-being. Under managerialism case managers meet the new demands

of quality assurance, standardization, administrative burdens and other related objectives while trying to allot the time required for meeting with clients and assisting in defining clients' needs appropriately. Furthermore, case managers struggle with workplace demands and their own professional values when they are more focused on meeting the new demands of performance standards and quality assurance while at the same time trying to meet the clients' needs that have been defined. For instance, rather than engaging and working directly with clients, case managers are overwhelmed by administrative work, time constraints, juggling constant changes to policy that redefine and narrow the definition of need, and high case loads (Aronson & Sammon, 2000; Baines, 2008). This results in limited time with clients where case managers' often feel pressured to rush through their meetings with clients (Aronson & Sammon, 2000; Baines, 2008).

Defining Need:

The very role of case managers, the way they gather information and what they do with that information, has become business oriented (Gustafson, 2000). For instance, need and eligibility decisions are made through a lens of priority criteria rather than professional judgment (Ellis et al, 1999). Additionally, case managers gather information to satisfy the agency they work for; to fulfill the agency's needs and mandates rather than addressing clients' needs. Case

managers are taught to document the way the agency which employs them wants them to document; to use the agency's language, which can be foreign to the case managers' profession (Pence, 2001) or even be in conflict with their own professional language.

Changes to Supervision:

Rather than being advocates for clients, case managers are now more focused on the bottom line as power structures in the workplace have shifted under managerialism resulting in case managers having decreased control over their work activities and work lives (Baines, 2008; Gustafson, 2000). Under the new managerialism, case managers no longer have professional discretion nor are they able to utilize their professional judgment; rather case managers are held accountable for implementing the standardized responses the institution dictates (Reinders, 2008). The shift of power structures increases the power of supervisors and their supervisory control; which, with the increased importance of quality assurance, performance indicators and administrative duties, results in supervisors engaging in a role of surveillance rather than supervision (Evans & Harris, 2004; Reinders, 2008).

With case managers being focused on meeting these new demands and having decreased control over their work activities and work lives; and with supervisors having increased power and engaging in surveillance as opposed to

supervision, case managers continually struggle with conflicting priorities of trying to engage with clients and address their needs, and meeting the new administrative demands of their positions to satisfy their supervisors. Case managers are experiencing an internal battle between what their new work requirements are and their devotion and allegiance to their practice; as well as to their professional ethics, values and identities (Penna et al, 2000; Hoggett et al, 2006).

Changes to Role and Practice:

The new managerialism has changed the role of case managers. Case managers are now laden with administrative tasks, high case loads, and must meet quality assurance and performance measures (Reinders, 2008).

Furthermore, case managers are now responsible for complex case loads and must work at a much quicker pace (Aronson & Sammon, 2000). Managerialism has resulted in case managers being charged with different responsibilities and expectations in order to satisfy the needs of institutions, such as meeting documentation requirements, focusing on the bottom line, efficiencies, rationing resources, and business managerial practices (Self et al, 2008).

Standardization

Some degree of standardization has always been present and is required in order to deliver good client services. For instance, if a client moves from one district or city to another, that client should expect the same quality of service in their new location. A client should also expect the same service if they are assigned a different case manager. Within these contexts then, standardization may benefit clients. Under managerialism however, standardization is qualitatively different. For instance, case managers are being forced to be more concerned about the administrative tasks and performance measures they have to meet rather than really understanding client needs and addressing them through good quality client service.

Research indicates that managerialism has increased practices of standardization for case managers. Standardization has become a major focal point for case managers' whereby much of the daily workday consists of implementing extensive standardization measures and ensuring that these standardization measures are being met. Standardization requires an extensive amount of documentation and one of its purposes is to eliminate error and waste (Baines, 2008); but also to demonstrate how an institution is meeting what it has defined as clients' needs. Indicators of quality assurance and performance measures are utilized to ensure standardization measures are being met, however, indicators do not necessarily measure client outcomes, but measure

case managers' adherence to standardization measures via data inputting (Ginsberg, 2001). This is seen in how case managers are taught to complete their tools, such as an assessment and case plan as well as how they are instructed to complete their documentation.

Standardization is also present in the interactions which case managers have with their clients (Baines, 2008) as case managers are now so focused on the bottom line and their administrative tasks that they no longer possess the time to go beyond this new scope. All of this standardization has resulted in drastically decreased discretionary powers of case managers (Ellis et al, 1999).

Lack of Clients' Voice

There is a lack of attention to the clients' point of view during the assessment and case planning process, often producing conflicting results in the ability of case managers to identify problems, resources and interventions (Florin et al, 2004; Junnola et al, 2002). Florin et al (2004) found that assessments do not necessarily capture needs as defined by clients but rather needs as identified by the institution; therefore, the assessment and treatment planning process is without the clients' voice as what is important to clients has not been addressed. This is echoed by Ellis et al (1999) who further adds that due to large case loads and time constraints, case managers categorize clients' problems in order to connect them with a routinized response. In this way there is also a lack of

clients' voice as case managers are listening for or quickly searching for the key words in order to determine which "slot" to insert the clients' problem that will correspond with the appropriate service.

Ideology Driving Case Managers' Tools

Another way in which managerialism has penetrated the work and functions of case managers is that neoliberal and managerial ideology have become intertwined with the tools, or texts, utilized by case managers (Pence, 2001). Case managers' tools and their textual practices are a key strategy in which ideology becomes natural and normal (Pare, 2001). Pence (2001) states that an agency's ideology is embedded in their texts since the texts direct the work and tasks which case managers' perform. Texts are produced, processed and coordinated by case managers and are reflective of the different phases of case managers' work since their roles have become so administratively involved (Pence, 2001). Texts inform case managers about what is relevant client information, what is not, and exactly how much information is required to fulfill the administrative task (Ellis et al, 1999). Texts become standardized practice whereby clients' lives are formatted to fit into the boxes comprising the texts (Aronson & Sammon, 2000).

The texts regulate the type of information case managers require to construct an account of clients' needs which is predetermined by the institution to

ration resources (Gustafson, 2000) as opposed to case managers listening to the clients' stories and helping clients identify their needs. For instance, any information which clients share with case managers which does not fit into any of the fields within the text are excluded (Gustafson, 2000). Not only does this practice ration resources but results in missed opportunities for case managers to have a more holistic view of clients' needs and being able to assist clients in more comprehensive ways. Furthermore, texts shape how case managers interpret the information provided by clients so that they can fit it into their boxes (Gustafson, 2000) which, again, can also result in missed opportunities for case managers to truly assist clients. Additionally, texts and their required documentation mobilize and direct the action of case managers to fulfill the requirements of the text (Gustafson, 2000). In this sense then, textual practices shape the interactions case managers have with their clients (Pence, 2001).

Besides standardization of practice, an argument is made that standardization belongs in case managers' tools. Again, as stated earlier, it can be argued that a certain degree of standardization is required in order to meet the needs of clients regardless of where they live and who they have for a case manager. For instance, without standardization, there can be too much ambiguity in what information should be gathered and where and how it should be documented (Somme et al, 2009). Standardization of case managers' tools would thus facilitate case managers in developing plans and monitoring and

coordinating client services (Somme et al, 2009). A common language in case managers' tools is also advocated (Somme et al, 2009) to dispel ambiguities and facilitate an uninterrupted flow of service amongst and between social service institutions. Research indicates that case managers welcome such aspects of standardization, in contrast to the kinds described above, in order to better manage their time, their resources and maintain an even work flow (Ellis et al, 1999).

This literature review has identified that managerialism is impacting the practice of case management. Case managers' are struggling with conflicting priorities of meeting the new administrative, quality assurance and standardization demands while trying to spend time with clients and address clients' needs. Case managers' roles, duties and functions have become standardized and this is impacting case managers' discretion. An identified gap is a lack of literature on clients' voice. With a lack of research on how the clients' voice is not being heard, there can be only a limited understanding of how pertinent and relevant case managers' tools are in identifying clients' needs and developing a plan of action to address these needs. This thesis will examine these themes in the context of Veterans Affairs Canada and determine how managerialism is present in case managers' tools and how the practice of case management is being impacted.

THEORETICAL PERSPECTIVE AND METHODOLOGY

I have always been intrigued by the forms and documents that professionals have to complete in order to provide services to clients. For social workers, these usually consist of some formulation of assessment and case planning. I began to wonder whose agenda the forms satisfy and whether power imbalances are embodied within forms themselves. With this in mind, I began researching how neoliberalism and its associated managerialism is impacting many social service agencies and the consequential changes happening to front line staff in how they are able to conduct their work (Gustafson, 2000; Smith, 2011; Baines. 2008). I decided I wanted to research how the ideology of neoliberalism and managerial processes are embodied in the assessment and case planning forms utilized by case managers at Veterans Affairs Canada. I also wanted to research what the relationship is between the micro front-line practices of staff, i.e. case managers, and the macro forces, i.e. managerialism, by unpacking the process of how case managers complete their assessment and case planning documents and what policies and directives guide them.

To conduct this research, a critical theoretical framework will be used.

Neuman (2011) states that the focus of a critical theoretical framework is not only to understand the "social world" (p.108) but to implement change within it. A researcher utilizing a critical theoretical framework strives to make the invisible

visible by revealing underlying power dynamics and their consequential reign of control and inequality (Neuman, 2011). Neuman (2011) states that a critical theoretical framework embraces the view that reality consists of "multiple layers" (p. 109) and that a person's experience is actually shaped by invisible power structures. It is understood from a critical framework that it can be an arduous task to demystify these invisible power structures and how they impact people (Neuman, 2011).

In the process of developing plans to conduct my research, I discovered that there is a critical research methodology which directly seeks to accomplish making the invisible, visible and this methodology is institutional ethnography.

Neuman (2011) states that ethnography derives from cultural anthropology and is "a description of a people and/or their culture" (p. 423). Institutional ethnography is a critical research methodological approach which is concerned about learning how knowledge and power occur in the everyday practices of people's lives (Campbell & Gregor, 2002; Neuman 2011). As is consistent with Neuman's (2011) explanation of a critical theoretical framework; this requires the institutional ethnographer to discover and analyze institutional power since institutional ethnography claims that the everyday practices in people's lives are influenced by external forces (Campbell & Gregor, 2002). In order to understand how external forces impact our everyday work practices, institutional ethnography seeks to discover the actual underlying currents of these practices

and endeavours to map out all of the elements in a given practice (Campbell & Gregor, 2002). This process of mapping is effective in dissecting the places and spaces that are socially organized in ways which hide power hierarchies and this mapping exposes the ideologies and practices of domination that shape the spaces in which we work and live (Smith, 2011). One of the most important concepts of institutional ethnography is "social organization" which means "things being put together systematically, but more or less mysteriously and outside a person's knowledge, and for purposes that may not be theirs" (Campbell & Gregor, 2002:18). A basic tenet of institutional ethnography is that knowledge, practices and work settings are socially organized. My research is to demystify how the invisible power structure and external force of managerialism shape the everyday practice of case managers in completing their assessment and case planning forms.

This concept of social organization then is instrumental in understanding how the macro forces influence the actions of front-line staff. Furthermore, institutional ethnography asserts that this organization of social relations is successful because of how extensively and efficiently texts based communications has infiltrated social relations (Campbell & Gregor, 2002). Texts are instrumental in making the invisible connections and actions in our lives work and an organization's ideology is often embedded within texts (Campbell & Gregor, 2002; Gustafson, 2000). In attempting to make the invisible visible, my

thesis will aim to discover how the behaviour, or social organization, of case managers is influenced by what their assessment and case planning forms demand. In other words, does the embodiment of managerialism in the forms utilized by case managers change the everyday practice of gathering information and conducting their case work? Do the forms drive the case managers or do case managers drive their forms?

Another important concept of institutional ethnography is the concept "ruling" which is the "socially organized exercise of power that shapes people's actions and their lives" (Campbell & Gregor, 2002:32). Dorothy E. Smith (2001) states it is the extra-local forces that have the power to shape local practices are capable of doing so at multiple sites. Extra-local forces are also known as "discourse, bureaucracy, large-scale or formal organization, the 'state,' institutions in general and so on" (Smith, 2001:161). The new managerialism would be the extra-local forces. Managerialism is the discourses, political ideologies and practices of the state and institutions now operating in Canadian society. These extra-local processes shape the local practice of case managers through policy, directives, legislation, and managerial practices. Other examples also include job specific duties and quality assurance and performance measures, as well as in the documents and texts such as case managers' tools.

Campbell & Gregor (2002) expand on this concept further and state that ruling occurs when these external forces are able to dominate the actions of

people at the local level and that a ruling practice becomes normal and routine "through the use of texts that objectifies the person being acted on organizationally" (p. 36). Extra-local forces normalize and objectify case managers at VAC through the tools they utilize. Texts are often at the heart of ruling since they shape and dictate our actions and the decisions people make based on texts will reflect organizational interests which are the ruling interests (Campbell & Gregor, 2002). This research will reveal how the underlying power structures of managerialism are embedded in the assessment and case planning forms of case managers, illustrating how extra-local forces and ruling relations shape local practice. Institutional ethnography will be used to map out these ruling practices by revealing neoliberal ideology and managerial practices in policy, directives, roles and standards as well as how case managers organize and enact this in their forms.

The research methodology of institutional ethnography supports my curiosity about case managers' tools and the power behind them. The texts which institutional ethnography is interested in are those that constitute the institutional or social relation as these are the texts that shape how people relate purposively to one another, to events, organizations and resources (Campbell & Gregor, 2002; Gustafson, 2000). Therefore, by examining the assessment and case planning forms which case managers utilize, researching policy, directives,

roles, expectations and standards at Veterans Affairs Canada, I can determine how invisible power operates and how managerial processes are evident.

Methods

In conducting research, there are two levels of data to be investigated. The first level of data is referred to as entry level data and it is the research about the local setting, people's interactions and their experiences. With respect to the research I will be doing, the entry level data is the assessment and case plan document which case managers utilize at Veterans Affairs Canada. The goal is to discover all the steps and elements involved and map them out. The second level of data is discovering the organizational details of how this process works and requires a broader investigation of the setting to understand the ruling relations, which may not be fully understood by the people who participate in the local setting (Campbell & Gregor, 2002). For my thesis, this will involve connecting, or mapping, what I discover with the entry-level data, i.e. the assessment and case planning forms case managers use, to the second level of data which involves policy, directives, standards and power. Investigative research is really focused on the connections between these two levels and how they interrelate to explain and map out the relations of ruling.

Institutional ethnography employs a range of research methods in order to analyze institutional processes (Campbell & Gregor, 2002). The research being

conducted would dictate the methods to be used and can be very broad with many different methods such as interviewing and observation, or very narrow concentrating only on textual data. For my thesis, I will be focusing strictly on textual data. Interviewing case managers to explore directly their experiences of, and interactions with the VAC tools and documents, was not feasible. The findings that follow are, therefore, based on: 1) my knowledge and analysis of case managers' tools, their operationalization and interrelation, and their implications for staff and service users. These include the case managers' assessment, case plan document, and risk and complexity tools; and 2) analysis of the various policy and procedure documents rapidly introduced and implemented in the last two years.

The concept of insider/outsider speaks to the positioning of the researcher. I was mindful throughout the study of my own positioning as researcher. As Lasala (2003) and Boushel (2000) note, an insider perspective can both enrich and nuance research and introduce the constraints and biases of the researcher's perspective. At points in the analysis that follows, and in reflective discussions with colleagues, I note my own assumptions or perspectives in order that they be transparent to the reader. Being cognizant that this tension is irresolvable, it needs to be acknowledged in order to make it

transparent, obvious and minimize the impact of the insider situation without minimizing its importance and significance.

One of the ways I need to approach this tension is to investigate other aspects of being an insider that I may not yet be cognizant of in order to appropriately address the potential effects on colleagues, myself and my research. This needs to be done as one of the tools of working with the tension of being an insider is being self-aware and engaging in reflexivity (Finley, 2002; Pillow, 2003). In order to exercise self-awareness, a full understanding of all of the ramifications, including potential pitfalls as well as checks and balances, needs to be understood (Boushel, 2000; LaSala, 2003).

This entire exercise of reflexivity and self awareness began with the development of the research study and design and carried through the entire research project. This highlights the importance of engaging in reflexivity and self-awareness throughout every stage of the entire research study process (Finley, 2002). The researcher needs to continually engage in an exercise of self-awareness, self-scrutiny and reflexivity in every stage of the research to manage the tension of being an insider as being an insider is an irresolvable variable that is present and will potentially impact the way that knowledge is not only acquired but also organized and interpreted (Pillow, 2003).

Another strategy to manage the tension of being an insider, and even the aspects of emotional labour, is to engage in peer debriefing (LaSala, 2003).

Fellow case managers, other researchers, colleagues and other peers are all potential resources for debriefing. Through the debriefing process, concerns regarding ideas, thoughts, feelings, interpretations or any other issues can be raised and discussed. This will facilitate further reflexivity exercises to further minimize the impacts of bias on the research.

Based on my research question and the theoretical framework I am employing, institutional ethnography is an appropriate methodological approach. Institutional ethnography seeks to uncover exactly what I wish to uncover, to make the invisible visible by seeking out and revealing underlying power structures of managerialism and its impact on the work performed by front-line case managers. Specifically, this is an examination of how the external forces construct and shape how case managers complete their assessment and case planning forms. The themes identified in the review of the literature on managerialism are used to organize the analysis that follows of change at VAC, of the penetration of managerialism into its operation, and of the implications for VAC's declared commitment to the service of veterans.

CHANGES at VETERANS AFFAIRS CANADA: A "MODERNIZATION" AGENDA

Veterans Affairs Canada (VAC) is in the process of "transforming" itself which includes an extensive transformation in the way they deliver services and in the roles of front-line staff, including case managers. These transformational changes are having a direct impact in how case managers, deliver services to their clients. The main argument provided by Veterans Affairs Canada to justify the transformation in philosophy, approach and ideology, is to "modernize service delivery to better meet the needs of the Veteran and address the requirement to improve efficiencies and effectiveness" (Veterans Affairs Canada; Annual Report on the Administration of the Access to Information Act, 2010-2011:16). This report outlining the need for transformation was in response to a 2008 Strategic Review for the department to respond to the needs of the new Veteran due to the war in Afghanistan (Veterans Affairs Canada; Departmental Quarterly Financial Reports, April – June, 2011:4). This same report also indicated two key drivers behind the transformation initiative at VAC stating that VAC

will overhaul its operations and service delivery to permit more timely and effective services to our aging traditional Veterans, and to the everincreasing number of modern-day Veterans returning from missions in Afghanistan and around the world.

Furthermore, this same report also states that "This dramatic overhaul will make the Department leaner, more responsive, more efficient and ultimately

result in savings to the fiscal framework (p:4)" These two statements appear to be contradictory as one statement illustrates the need for improved and more effective services while the second statement discusses reducing costs and drastically changing the department to make it "leaner." An inference that can be made here regarding making the department leaner is a reduction in resources which can include not only benefits and services but also staff.

Veterans Affairs Canada, within the realm of transformation, now states that the intent of case management services is to support "the goal of coordinating complex, fragmented services to meet the needs of clients, while controlling the costs of the services" (VAC's Case Management Framework 2011:4). It was during the 1990s when the federal government began examining cost containment strategies and rationalizations for spending that VAC was forced to develop strategies to make better use of resources, ensure tax dollars were being spent efficiently and cost effectively and to demonstrate greater accountability for how resources were utilized (VAC's Case Management Framework, 2011). This led to one of the initial steps in VAC's transformation agenda through the development of the Client Centred Service Approach which was designed to be a service delivery model based on needs and ensure greater efficiency with the goal that clients would receive" the right service, at the right time, by the right person in a consistent and standardized fashion" (VAC's Case Management Framework, 2011:6).

Changes in the Treatment of "Traditional" Veterans

For case managers at VAC, this transformation involves changes to their very role. For context and to illustrate what the transformation at VAC looks like for case managers, a brief synopsis of the case managers' role and function will be highlighted. Historically, and up until the implementation of the new case planning tool, case managers at VAC were known as Area Counsellors (their title was changed to case managers to reflect their new role). As area counsellors, their job duties consisted of conducting home visits for any veteran who was in need of some type of service. This could have been for a service as simple as a veteran requiring assistance with grass cutting or snow removal. During a home visit, an area counsellor's assessment (Appendix A) was completed and/or follow-up work was conducted regarding the case plan to ensure the services were meeting needs and achieving goals. At this time, many senior veterans from WWII and Korea, also known as traditional veterans; were case managed to ensure safety in the home and to ensure that personal needs, such as bathing, were being met. Though home care services are the mandate of the Community Care Access Centre (CCAC) in Ontario, area counsellors at Veterans Affairs Canada monitored the needs of traditional veterans and would "top up" services as required or even arrange services in place of the CCAC. The case plan document at this time was a very basic document consisting of only the desired

outcome, its accompanying actions steps and a blank space for documentation regarding anything about the client.

Under transformation, VAC is now enforcing CCAC's mandate as the first provider of at home services for veterans who are residents in the province of Ontario. Case managers at VAC very rarely conduct home visits to conduct an assessment or develop a case plan for traditional veterans. There would have to be some type of complex urgent need for case managers to conduct a home visit for traditional veterans. Other front-line staff at VAC known as Client Service Agents, whose roles have also changed, conduct "screenings" over the phone and now have the authority to implement home care services based on the information garnered from the screenings (VAC Staff Roles & Responsibilities, Jan 2012). Screening forms are also mailed out to clients who can not be reached over the phone. Should the screening forms be completed and returned, client service agents may then call clients for clarifications and for discussion of services required and the amount for clients who qualify.

Client service agents, like all staff at VAC, have fixed financial amounts they are authorized to spend on each client. Case managers now only become involved with traditional veterans if client service agents can convince supervisors that case management intervention is required due to high complexity. If there is agreement on complexity, then the case is assigned to a case manager for assessment and case planning with the understanding that

case management would be short-term until the needed provincial services, such as CCAC, are in place. However, there is inconsistency in the assignment of cases to case managers from VAC district office to VAC district office across the country due to client demographics. Many areas have more traditional clients than modern-day clients so they must have the case managers more involved with the traditional client base in order to substantiate both the client numbers as well as staffing numbers. For traditional clients then, VAC is no longer the main resource for services and benefits, but one of many to be included in meeting clients' needs. This has always been the case but was never enforced before. Under transformation, VAC is rigidly adhering to its legislative mandate of being one of many resources clients may require rather than trying to be a main resource for clients in response to their veteran status.

New Tools for New Veterans

The next step in VAC's transformation strategy was the Integrated Service Delivery Framework which was designed to be an "efficient and effective standardized case management model (VAC's Case Management Framework, 2011:6) and also to increase the accountability of all front-line staff. This led to a five year transformation plan that "will fundamentally change how VAC does its business…..supported by strong business planning with performance measures and time lines for results" (VAC's Case Management Framework, 2011:8). This

new delivery framework is the foundation for the transformation in policy and practices that are being implemented.

Case managers at VAC must now also work with the incorporation of new "tools" to be completed as part of their new case management tasks. These include a new case planning tool (Appendix B), which will be discussed in more depth, as well as the adoption of risk and complexity tools. Furthermore, case managers are now rated by a scoring system referred to as the Intensity Factor Indicator.

Case management unfolds by completing a client assessment, (which has not changed yet during this period of transformation), which usually leads to the development of a case plan; a separate document from the assessment. A case managers' assessment is completed on all clients to assess whether case management is warranted. Prior to the changes to the case managers' role, many assessments were completed on veterans for required services but this assessment did not necessarily lead to case management. For example, an area counselor may conduct a home visit for a veteran who only required "targeted assistance" such as housekeeping or groundskeeping and would have to complete a case managers' assessment in order to put these services in place. Since the veteran only required targeted assistance a case plan would not be developed. These types of home visits represented the bulk of home visits case managers conducted and the majority of these home visits were for traditional

veterans. With transformation, it is rare now to complete an assessment that does not require a case plan, including for traditional veterans, as case managers are only assigned cases that require case management. Previously, the only time case managers would complete an assessment that did not lead to case management was if it was unclear whether case management services were warranted and an assessment was used to make a determination. This latter situation does not occur very often now.

After the assessment and case plan, case managers must then complete the two other new tools, known as workload intensity tools. The workload intensity tools are used for internal purposes to gauge the level of risk and complexity of clients within individual case managers' caseloads (described below). The workload intensity tools and their resulting scores do not benefit the clients in any way, such as allotting them extra services based on high rating scores. The level of risk and complexity per case managers' case load is monitored by supervisors to assist in the assignment of new cases. In other words, the goal is for case managers to have a balance of low, medium and high risk/complexity clients and case managers are assigned new cases to facilitate this equilibrium. This is the stated purpose but, as will be discussed, the workload intensity tools are also used for other purposes such as gauging case managers' workload. In addition, clients are always in a state of flux, so may be low intensity at one time but an event could occur that increases their risk & complexity.

Change in client complexity does not necessarily lead to a reassessment but is reflected in the case plan. For instance, it would be documented what has occurred, impact on goal attainment, if additional resources are required and any other pertinent information. In sum, regardless of the type of client, i.e. traditional or modern day, if they are to be case managed an assessment is completed, a case plan developed and the workload intensity tools completed.

The first workload intensity tool is referred to as the Regina Risk Indicator Tool or RRIT (Appendix C a & b) which is supposed to be an objective measure of clients' risk and complexity (VAC Workload Intensity Tools, 2011). There are however, two different RRIT's; one for traditional clients and one for modern day clients. The RRIT for traditional clients does not involve all of the same risk factors as for modern day clients. Case managers rarely complete a RRIT for traditional clients as these are normally completed by other staff such as client service agents when they complete a screening.

To measure risk and complexity for modern day clients, the RRIT encompasses a rating system for factors such as financial concerns; housing; family supports; addiction; pain; physical and mental health; whether there have been hospitalizations; and, a general area for possible additional risks such as the risk of suicide. There is also another section should someone require assistance with the Activities of Daily Living (ADLs) such as bathing, dressing and other basic day to day tasks

This scoring system is for modern day clients only as it is recognized that many younger clients would not have difficulty with ADLs. The scoring system for the RRIT for traditional clients is out of 54, a static number. For some reason, risk factors such as addictions are not considered for traditional clients. Also, mental health is not considered a risk factor for traditional clients but cognitive status is. Cognitive status is not a measure on the RRIT for modern day clients. The RRIT for traditional clients largely encompasses ADL functions.

The second workload intensity tool is a complexity measuring tool based on the case managers' subjective assessment, known as the Case Need and Complexity Indicator, or CNCI (Appendix D) (VAC Workload Intensity Tools, 2011). The CNCI also has a rating system and considers such factors as physical and mental health; environment; readiness of change; stage of change; extent of resources required; and, the amount of case management work required for the client. These tools generally have a standardized measurement of low, moderate and high. These tools are used to determine client complexity in order to capture the intensity of case managers' workload for the assignment of new cases. In other words, the premise is that when new cases arrive, they should be assigned to case managers based on the consideration of how many low, moderate, and high complexity clients case managers already have in order to achieve some semblance of balance and equality of cases between the case managers. However, this is not always the case. Case managers are ideally

supposed to have forty cases on their case load. If a case manager is below that number they are assigned cases to have their case load brought up to the standardized number of forty. Attaining the standardized number for case loads generally overrides the equilibrium of case loads of low, medium and high risk/complexity.

Within these new standardized practices, case managers are also now subjected to the scoring system of the Intensity Factor Indicator (IFI) which audits the case managers' output based on a formulation that includes intensity, complexity and the volume of work involved in a case. All of this volume is captured in the case plan document with different parts of the case plan scoring higher than others (VAC Workload Intensity Tools, 2011). Each case manager is rated a monthly IFI score and this score must fall within a certain range. If a case manager's IFI score is below a certain range then this is an indicator that the case manager is not following quality assurance measures or performance standards.

Intensity is a measurement of the work the case manager is actually completing and includes the number of assessments which have led to the development of a case plan, the number of times the case plan has been modified and the number of case plans closed. Number of modifications to a case plan is an indicator that the case manager is involved with the case. Low intensity will result in a low IFI score. Volume is a measurement of real active

cases meaning that any case plan that is overdue, i.e. has not been modified within 90 days, or where there has been no client contact in 90 days, is not counted in the case managers' monthly IFI score resulting in a low score.

Complexity is a measurement that takes the number of desired outcomes in a case plan and divides this by the number of case plans for the case manager and takes the number of resources per case plan and divides these by the number of case plans for the case manager. The premise here is that the more resources being utilized by the client then the more complex the case is. It should not be assumed that all resources in a case plan are being provided by Veterans Affairs Canada as this is not the case. Case managers are to populate all resources clients are accessing and utilizing whether they are funded by VAC or not. This can include specialists, support groups and even exercise therapies such as yoga that the client is using in their community. Case managers are generally eager to populate the resource section of the case plan to increase their IFI score, particularly if they are concerned there are other "deficits' which may cause their IFI score to go down.

Case managers are to be working towards an ideal goal range for the IFI score. The IFI score does not relate to the RRIT or the CNCI except for auditing purpose by the supervisors of the case managers. For instance, if a case manager had a substantial amount of moderate and high risk/complexity clients but a low IFI score, then the supervisor not only questions the case managers'

output but also questions whether the case manager has assessed the risk and complexity of their case load properly. If the case manager reports that the RRIT & CNCI scores for their case load are accurate then the case manager would have to defend low output given their case load. All of these documents and the scoring auditing system are now part of the quality assurance measures which case managers must now undergo with their supervisors at set intervals.

The IFI scores are very important to supervisors as not only do case managers have individual IFI scores but each district office is also given an IFI score to rate how efficient and effective the district office is. So if a case managers' IFI score is low then this is going to decrease the IFI score for the whole office. The pressure for a good IFI score is high and may motivate case managers to find ways to increase their IFI scores in order to meet the demands of quality assurance measures and performance standards of their jobs rather than focusing on assisting clients with the reasons they need to access Veterans Affairs Canada. Any modification to case plans raises the IFI score. One way case managers can raise their IFI scores is by documenting all of the steps to completing a task individually rather than documenting one complete note.

With the revamping of the case planning tool, the area counsellors became case managers and their role and duties changed. Case managers are now only assigned complex clients who usually consist of newer veterans who may be eligible for VAC's rehabilitation program. In other words, in order to be

deemed "complex" clients needs have to exceed what is termed "targeted assistance" which includes services under the Veterans Independence Program such as housekeeping, groundskeeping, meals on wheels and some personal care service meant to top up provincial services such as those offered by the CCAC. Other targeted assistance also includes equipment such as walkers and wheelchairs and equipment to facilitate independence with ADLs safely such as grab bars in the bathroom. If clients only require targeted assistance, their needs and services are now completely met by the Client Services Agents (CSAs) and not case managers. In fact, these clients would now only have contact with CSAs due to the changes in roles under transformation. This is largely why traditional clients are now rarely case managed and if they are, it is to be short-term in order to get them connected to the CCAC or Geriatric Support or whatever other essential community and provincial service is required to meet that client's needs. Once traditional veterans are connected to the appropriate agencies, case management services through VAC would cease and the CSAs would again be the main point of contact to provide and/or augment targeted assistance as needed.

Clients who are deemed eligible for the rehab program, which can only be modern day veterans, are automatically case managed. There are numerous reasons why modern day veterans would require case management services without being in the rehab program; however, most clients are in the

rehabilitation program. For clients deemed to require case management, the case manager would conduct an assessment, develop a case plan, and complete a RRIT and CNCI. Again, the RRIT and CNCI are used for internal purposes to illustrate to supervisors the degree of risk and complexity clients have within the case managers' case load. There is no benefit to the client in case managers completing the RRIT and CNCI tools.

Though case managers continue to conduct home visits, the frequency of this has dramatically decreased. Home visits generally occur for new clients, who have been deemed eligible for VAC's rehabilitation program, but not always as these initial visits can also occur in the VAC district office. Case managers now conduct most of their work with their clients over the phone. The case managers' caseload now comprises only complex clients and case managers are now inundated with administrative tasks and standardized tools. In order to complete all of the standardized forms and tasks, other aspects of the case managers' role would have to change. This involves the elimination of home visits and the elimination of working with an entire age population group (traditional veterans) who do not "fit" within the new "complexity" standards.

The reformulated case planning tool at VAC is supposed to be designed to reflect the client's situation, needs, goals and the resources required to achieve goals. In completing and maintaining the case planning document, the case manager now has at the forefront of their mind, quality assurance measures and

the Intensity Factor Indicator scoring system. Before the case plan can be completed however, case managers must first complete the case managers' assessment tool, which is a separate document from the case planning tool. Usually, an assessment is completed now for the purposes of developing the foundation of the case plan.

The case managers' assessment consists of a number of sections including physical health, mental health, mental functioning, activities of daily living, instrumental activities of daily living, employment, education, psycho-social profile, caregiver status, financial, and resources. All of these sections include numerous tick-boxes with limited areas for documentation. For example, case managers ask clients to self-rate their physical and mental health with one word beside it such as excellent, very good, good, fair, poor or declines to respond. Under mental functioning, there is a section for case managers to check off tick boxes as to how they perceive clients' moods; clients are not necessarily asked about these individually but asked to describe their moods in general. It really is up to the individual case manager to determine how this is completed. The space to document is limited which may require case managers, particularly if it is a reassessment and the case manager wants to retain previously documented information, to either really limit important information, or paraphrase into professional or institutional language. This issue is true for all sections of the case managers' assessment tool.

The case plan document begins with two dates, the date the case plan is opened and the date of anticipated disengagement. Then there is an overview of the client's situation which is a synopsis of the case manager's assessment.

Though the assessment tool is considered important, its real significance is how it frames everything else in the case plan. Issues identified in the overview will rationalize the case manager's work load and the resources that will be required to meet the client's needs. It is the case plan that is regularly updated, not the assessment. Updating the assessment happens at the outset of case management services and at disengagement to indicate all of the changes that have occurred for the client. Therefore, how the assessment is completed will determine how the client will be presented in the case planning document and what is considered to be important enough to be followed up on and what resources will be required.

In the first section of the case planning document there is a section titled "where do you want to be" followed by "what is preventing you from getting there." "Where do you want to be" represents clients' long term goals and is to be written in their own voice. However, according to VAC's Guidelines for Case Planning (2011), the narrative needs to be specific, dictate an anticipated completion date for case management services, and be realistic and achievable for the client. These criteria make it difficult to complete a narrative in the client's voice as clients typically do not speak in a way that encapsulates these criteria.

Generally, this information comes out through dialogue with the case manager utilizing skills to draw information from clients. Case managers must reframe the information back to clients in a way that reflects a realistic and achievable goal and then document this statement.

"What is preventing you from getting there" is also to be a narrative in the client's words but there are ambiguities here if the client is unable to identify any barriers or lacks the insight to see all of the barriers that are present in their situation. Not only is the case manager supposed to assist clients in identifying barriers quickly in their working relationship, but also having clients agree with any barriers case managers identify.

The next section of the case plan is "desired outcomes" and is supposed to encapsulate the smaller goals in order to achieve the overarching long term goal of "where do you want to be." These goals need to be written in a concise format that must meet certain goal formulation criteria or case managers will fail quality assurance and performance standard measures. VAC incorporates the SMART goal format meaning goals need to be written as Specific, Measurable, Attainable, Realistic and Timely. One of the difficulties with this is that clients struggle trying to put their goals into the format VAC demands and VAC will not consider any other goal format.

The next section is "indicators of success" which is to reflect the positive changes and advancements clients make. This section is important to VAC so

case managers can share this information with clients whenever clients feel that they are not progressing. This can be considered as a tool for motivating clients and increasing their self-esteem. This is also a way of keeping track of whether clients are benefiting or making good use of the resources that are being utilized. The next section is the "action steps" that will be undertaken to achieve the goals assigned to either the client or case manager, within certain time parameters and, of course, within quality assurance standards.

The next section of the case planning document is "resources" that the client is using whether VAC is paying for the resources or not. The more resources the client is using the more complex they are deemed and the higher the IFI score for the case manager. The score is to represent how much work case managers are doing. The rationale is that the more resources a client is using, the more follow-up and monitoring a case manager has to do to determine whether or not the resource(s) are effective and adjust them accordingly. This is also the section where case managers provide the rational for the decisions. With the implementation of the new case plan tool, case managers were given increased decision making authority. Case managers previously had very strict financial caps and limitations requiring them to continuously access various decision-making levels to implement resources. This was very time consuming and depending on the level of decision making required determined the number of people involved in the outcome. Case managers now only have to access

other decision making levels for certain circumstances. However, case managers are held to a high degree of accountability with the rationales they provide to support their decisions. Finally, there is the "progress notes" section, which should include documentation regarding all of the desired outcomes and action steps at a given time.

In summary, Veterans Affairs Canada is undergoing an extensive transformation in the way it delivers its services and in its operations and we can draw some general conclusions from the description above about the impact. We can see evidence of neoliberal ideology and the new managerialism in the transformation. One way managerialism is present is in the language VAC is using to explain the rationale for transformation. For instance, VAC is focused on cost containment and most of VAC's statements regarding the need for transformation include reference to cost containment. Some examples of VAC's statements regarding cost containment, which have already been stated are, savings to the fiscal framework; controlling costs of services; developing strategies to make better use of resources; greater accountability in how resources are utilized; improving efficiencies and effectiveness; and, ensuring tax dollars are being spent efficiently and cost effectively.

In addition to the focus on cost containment and rationing resources, there are other areas where the implementation of the business managerial model is evident. This new model at VAC has changed the role and practice of case

managers. For instance, case managers are essentially no longer case managing an entire population of clients as seen in the focus from traditional veterans to modern day veterans. Furthermore, VAC is enforcing a mandate to ensure that other community agencies are fulfilling service needs, i.e. passing off service needs to community agencies. Case managers are now inundated with standardized work practices as seen in the completion of all of the documents they must now complete. These new documents are not about case management but rather are about supervision and auditing case managers' work. This is evident in the routine auditing of quality assurance and performance standard measures. VAC has introduced the elements of risk, intensity and IFI scores that move case managers' performance to the forefront and client contact to the background. Furthermore, case managers are now subjected to regular auditing which has the potential to shape how case planning is done rather than clients' needs shaping case planning. All of these changes have resulted in reduced time spent with clients as there are fewer clients for case managers to see and case managers are spending most of their time documenting. The next chapter will examine the assessment and case planning tools more in-depth to develop an understanding of how managerialism is embodied in these tools.

VETERANS AFFAIRS CANADA and the TRANSFORMATION STRATEGY

Thus far we have examined the transformation at VAC, in particular the impact on case managers due to the changes to their role, practice and tools. This section will now analyze how managerialism is present in case managers' tools at VAC. This will involve examining how the ruling relations of the extra-local forces are impacting on local practice. This will reveal if there are corresponding changes to the definition of need and available resources. Furthermore, this analysis will reveal how this may have impacted case managers' discretion and the very practice of case management.

The New Business Plan

It is clear that Veterans Affairs Canada is undergoing rapid and dramatic change in the way they deliver services to their clients and in the very roles and functions of staff, especially case managers. Furthermore, it is evident that Veterans Affairs Canada is embracing neoliberalism and the new managerialism. Prior to looking at how managerialism is impacting case management and its embodiment in case managers' tools; an overall look at how managerialism is present in VAC's transformation strategy will be undertaken in order to more fully appreciate the impacts of this strategy on case managers.

Veterans Affairs Canada states that it wants to modernize itself to "improve efficiencies and effectiveness" (Veterans Affairs Canada; Annual Report on the Administration of the Access to Information Act, 2009:18) and in so doing will improve its services to Canadian veterans. VAC states that their clients are at the centre of all of their transformational goals and are working towards being "more responsive to the changing needs of veterans" (Veterans Affairs Canada: Road to 2015-2016, 2011:1). This same document also states that VAC is "making a fundamental change in the way we do business" (Veterans Affairs Canada: Road to 2015-2016, 2011:1). The language VAC is utilizing here in describing its direction and focus includes neoliberal philosophy and the new managerialism as evidenced in the terms of "improving efficiencies" and changing the way VAC does "business." Managerialism involves pro-market approaches, business managerial models of work organization and striving for continual improvement to practice (Baines, 2008). Terms such as "improving efficiencies" and language involving business are derived from the market and not from service provision.

In addition, VAC is also demonstrating its incorporation of neoliberalism and the new managerialism in its transformation strategy through the new practice of offering "choices" for services. VAC clients can now "choose" to complete, submit and follow-up on applications on-line and through Service Canada. This downloading of services can be interpreted as evidence of

decentralization and individualization from government staff that used to assist clients in completing forms to the client to complete themselves (Brodie, 1999). These options are being presented as consumer choice (Reinders, 2008) and they result in the government working towards providing only a minimal level of support (Penna et al, 2000). Clients are being informed that they do not have to deal with bureaucrats to complete their documents, but rather, can rely on themselves to have their needs met (Brodie, 1999). In this same respect, clients can then be blamed when the process results in their being denied their request(s) (Brodie, 1999).

Offering choices appears as a positive change for VAC but the language of choice being utilized does not offer meaningful choices for the client. For instance, in its Road to 2015-2016 document (Veterans Affairs Canada, 2011); VAC states that veterans will be able to use the service of their choice, by calling VAC, visiting a VAC district office or by applying for some benefits or services online. However, this option of choice is really an illusion as these options for application do not change eligibility for service or how services are provided. The only choice clients are really being offered here is how they initially contact VAC to apply for services and benefits but the message clients receive is that choices are available in a much broader range of areas than just how to initially engage with VAC. What is not being communicated is that by not engaging with VAC staff in completing applications, clients may not complete forms accurately or

thoroughly which may prevent them from qualifying for a benefit or service. In this situation, the "choice" being offered to clients could prevent them from receiving appropriate services and resources from VAC.

Another example of how managerialism is incorporated in the transformational initiatives at VAC is the way in which the extra-local is changing the local practice for case managers through the implementation of a business model (Baines, 2008). This is evidenced in VAC's language in its Departmental Quarterly Financial Reports (Veterans Affairs Canada, April – June 2011:5)) where it states the department will be "leaner, more responsive, more efficient and ultimately result in savings to the fiscal framework." One way this is being accomplished is through the "more timely and effective services to our aging Traditional Veterans" (Veterans Affairs Canada; Departmental Quarterly Financial Reports, April – June 2011:5). For example, case managers rarely have traditional clients on their case load so case managers no longer have the opportunity to complete assessments on this population. Traditional clients are now screened by client service agents to identify whether traditional clients meet criteria for services. Client service agents have some authority to implement some services such as housekeeping, groundskeeping, meals on wheels and personal care services; but client service agents must also ensure that other community services are being utilized. In other words, if a traditional client requires assistance with bathing, instead of putting personal care services in

place, the client service agent must inform the client to access the CCAC for assistance. If CCAC services are in place, there must be some form of justification to include personal care services from VAC. This is usually determined on an individual basis with the client service agent consulting with their supervisor and other team members such as nurses.

The screenings which client service agents conduct are not comprehensive assessments and are conducted over the phone creating the opportunity to miss unmet needs clients may have. If client service agents are able to detect other unmet needs that may require the intervention of case management, they are to notify their supervisor who decides whether a case manager should become involved. Normally, the supervisor chooses to not involve case managers but instructs the client service agent to inform the client of the community services and to make an appointment with their doctor if they have concerns. Supervisors rarely involve case managers as the focus for case managers at VAC is now modern day veterans.

In addition, there is evidence of a rationing of resources and individualization (Brodie, 1999) in the language VAC is utilizing directly with their clients. As previously mentioned, prior to transformation VAC staff were prepared to provide ample resources and were not concerned about whether other community partners were involved. With transformation, VAC staff is now regularly informing clients that many of the services VAC provides are

"contributions" and should not be considered all encompassing. What this means is that VAC is telling its clients that instead of meeting your needs, we are only going to contribute this much of a resource. It is then up to clients to find other ways of locating resources to meet their needs.

Therefore, in informing clients to contact the CCAC or put pressure on the CCAC for additional services, in informing clients that VAC benefits are contributions, there is a rationing of resources within VAC (eg case managers, additional services). Clients are being instructed to rely on themselves, their families, and the market for resources and this is evidence of the effects of a business model being implemented. Since clients have to rely on themselves, they are essentially acting as service brokers for themselves rather than having case managers conduct this function for them. Clients are now having to advocate for themselves in negotiating services with VAC and must do the same with other community agencies.

Case Managers and Conflicting Priorities

Case managers at VAC are now experiencing conflicting priorities resulting from the transformational changes that are occurring. The conflicts include conflicting priorities with professional values, defining need, changes to the purpose of supervision and conflicting priorities due to changes to the case managers' role and practice. Since these transformational changes are

permanent, it is likely that conflicting priorities will not be resolved for case managers anytime soon nor are case managers in a position to change any of the factors creating the conflicting priorities since they are being imposed by extra-local forces.

Professional Values Versus Workplace Demands:

The new managerialism has altered workplace demands for case managers resulting in case managers being torn between their workplace demands and their own professional values and commitment to well-being.

These new workplace demands include new checks on case managers, change in workload priorities, scope and pace of change, and the way change is being communicated at VAC. With the changes imposed on case managers by managerialism, professional values are now in conflict with workplace demands. Since case managers at VAC include varied professions, the professional values identified not only belong to social work, but to other professions as well.

Professional values include commitment to client well-being; being able to have regular face-to -face contact with clients; and, providing the time and resources clients require to be effective in meeting clients' needs (Aronson & Sammon, 2000; Baines, 2008).

The new managerialism is characterized by structures which increase the power of supervisors to conduct surveillance to ensure quality assurance

measures and performance standards imposed by the new managerialism have been met (Evans & Harris, 2004; Reinders, 2008, Baines, 2008). Supervision of case managers at VAC now includes auditing. Though this will be discussed more in depth later, it requires mentioning here due to the tension it presents. The focus for case managers at VAC has been on learning the new administrative tasks and meeting quality assurance measures. How case managers are able to meet clients' needs is not the focus at VAC. Case managers are continually under pressure, and are routinely audited to ensure they are meeting quality assurance and performance standard measures regarding their new decision-making authority and in the appropriate completion of their tools. The administrative tasks required to meet quality assurance and performance standard measures represents a monumental change in workload priorities for case managers and now comprises the bulk of case managers' functions leaving less time to spend with clients.

The new managerialism is characterized by continuous changes to policy and procedures at a scope and pace of change that leaves case managers feeling overwhelmed and having to juggle their new workload (Aronson & Sammon, 2000; Baines, 2008). Case managers at VAC are constantly experiencing change, to the extent that the change can be difficult to keep up with. VAC is transforming the way it delivers services to its clients that reflects changes to policy, procedures, roles and services themselves. With this multitude

of changes occurring continually and simultaneously, the scope and pace of change seems designed to produce a reaction focused on compliance with little time or energy to resist or contemplate the impact on client service. The steps required to approve particular services are constantly changing requiring case managers to continually stay abreast of the changes regardless of how quickly they are changing. That is to say that the steps necessary for case managers to complete a task today can be different tomorrow and case managers are responsible to implement the new changes immediately.

This situation is further complicated by the way VAC communicates its changes. Under transformation, an e-mail will be distributed to case managers to advise of the changing steps they need to undertake to deliver the service.

Notification of changes via e-mail happens continuously. These ongoing changes to procedures and role could result in case managers experiencing conflicting priorities with their professional values.

Case Managers and Limits on Defining Need:

The new managerialism is characterized by the rationing of resources and one way this is accomplished is through a narrowing of the definition of need (Gustafson, 2000; Ellis et al, 1999; Aronson & Sammon, 2000; Baines, 2008).

The new managerialism takes away from case managers their own skills and

ability to assess need and places and creates tools which fulfill the institutions' narrowing definitions of need and eligibility.

There are increased limits in how case managers at VAC are able to establish clients' needs. This is evidenced in the tools case managers utilize and in the services VAC determines to be important to its clients. For instance, though VAC case managers have a fairly comprehensive assessment tool in the sense that it covers many pertinent domains, the ways in which the domains are defined are limited and could direct case managers to think in very specific ways in defining need. Tick boxes and limited space for documentation does not allow for the documentation for complex situations requiring case managers to standardize information. Narrowing the definition of need and rationing resources through tick boxes and limited space for documentation can also be further exacerbated by case managers being so focused on completing the tick boxes that they may miss relevant information the client has presented. This situation has an increased chance of occurring when case managers are very pressed for time. By having to focus on meeting quality assurance and performance standard measures, a lack of time can facilitate a greater concentration of focusing on the tick boxes and minimizing complex situations. This ultimately results in a narrowing definition of need and rationing of resources.

Another way the tick boxes and limited space for documentation can narrow the definition of need and ration resources is through what is being asked in the document. Texts inform case managers about what client information is relevant, what is not relevant, and just how much information is necessary for the assessment form (Ellis et al, 1999). Texts regulate the type of information case managers require in order to format clients' lives into the document (Gustafson, 2000; Aronson & Sammon, 2000). This results in constructing an account of client's needs in predetermined ways in order to ration resources rather than listening to the client's entire story and identifying all of their needs (Gustafson, 2000). For example, under the domain of Health Status there are numerous tick boxes for various global health conditions (e.g musculoskeletal, neurological, etc) and symptoms (e.g. pain, dizziness) and it is up to case managers to ask questions regarding these. In other words, for yes or no tick box questions, one or the other must be checked off; but other tick boxes such as the list of organs and systems under physical health are only checked off if there is an issue or problem. That is to say the tick box "heart" would only be checked off if the client identified a heart problem. If these types of tick boxes are not checked off then it is assumed that it was asked about and the client denied any problem. However, the way the document is constructed may make it easy for case managers to simply gather this information up through general conversation or may ask about certain conditions for a given population. This could occur for various reasons

such as time constraints, personal technique by a case manager and so on. For instance, case managers may ask about heart conditions in the geriatric population but, may not be as concerned about asking about heart conditions with the very young population. The point here is that only what is ticked off and documented is determined to be the clients' situation; if it is not ticked off and not documented it is assumed that it was asked about and that it is not an issue or need for the client. In other words, clients may not have been asked about each health issue and thus aspects of their health situation may go undocumented. Though managerialism may argue that the tick boxes ensure thoroughness in the case managers' assessment by listing all of these health domains, the reality is that thoroughness is not assured. In summary, tick boxes are not beneficial. Not only do tick boxes limit documentation and facilitate the rationing of resources through a narrowing definition of need, but they also do not succeed in any thoroughness they purport to provide.

Increased Authority, Greater Accountability and the Surveillance of Supervision:

The new managerialism is characterized by power structures which cause case managers to be more focused on the bottom line than providing quality client service (Baines, 2008; Gustafson, 2000). Case managers no longer have professional discretion or judgment but are accountable for implementing the standardized responses and practices the institution demands (Reinders, 2008).

Managerialism increases the power of supervisors who are tasked with engaging in surveillance to ensure case managers are meeting quality assurance and performance standard measures (Evans & Harris, 2004; Reinders, 2008).

Case managers at VAC are experiencing a different working relationship with their supervisors. Case managers at VAC now have decreased control over their work lives and work experiences. Their focus of work has become quite narrow in many ways with having to always be cognizant of quality assurance and performance standard measures. At Veterans Affairs Canada, case managers have been given a greater authority in making decisions for some services. For instance, case managers have always been allowed to approve health services such as psychological treatment, physiotherapy and massage therapy; however, the financial amounts which case managers were permitted to authorize was well below the actual costs of these services. This required the case manager to go to various levels above them, for official approval, with the level determined by the financial amount requiring authorization. In this sense, the case managers were an advocate for the client recommending the service and requesting approval from the designated approval authority. Under transformation, case managers have been granted full authority to approve these services regardless of the financial amount under Administrative Law. The difference now is that case managers have been tasked with documenting clear rationales for all of their decisions, including quoting legislation in all of their

decisions. Case managers are then audited on their decisions and the rationales for their decisions and it is the responsibility of supervisors to routinely conduct the audits.

Case managers are also held legally and criminally responsible for their decisions under Administrative Law. Previous authoritative bodies were not held to this degree of accountability and there are other departments in VAC that are still not held to this same degree of responsibility and accountability for their decisions. It is the front-line staff at VAC, which includes case managers, that are held to this degree of accountability and responsibility and is part of case managers quality assurance and performance standard measures on which they are routinely audited.

Supervision at VAC is now focused on case managers meeting quality assurance, decision making standards and documentation standards. Case managers' work is routinely audited and meetings with supervisors are completely focused on the audit. Though supervisors are still there for guidance and direction, that is no longer a main function in the supervisory role. According to VAC's Staff Roles and Responsibilities: Client Service Team (2012:4), supervisors, known at VAC as Client Service Team Managers, are responsible for Quality Management, which means to:

Lead and direct activities supporting quality management and improvement including quality control, quality assurance and file reviews; and take corrective action to rectify gaps, deficiencies, and inconsistencies.

With the changes to both the roles of case managers and supervisors, supervision has become surveillance as the purpose of supervision now is about auditing the work of case managers with respect to quality assurance and performance standard measures in the procedures and documentation case managers complete. How case managers are able to meet or not meet the new quality assurance measures and standards is discussed at quarterly meetings with supervisors and as the need arises. During these meetings, a form is completed by supervisors on how case managers are or are not meeting quality assurances measures and standards. Supervisors also complete formal performance appraisals annually which encapsulates the information and dialogue which has occurred throughout the year on how well case managers have met quality assurance measures and standards, what measures have been introduced to improve case managers' performance and how effective these measures have been. Supervisors are to demonstrate how they are assisting case managers improve and if any disciplinary action has been taken.

Case Managers' and Changes to Their Role and Practice

The new managerialism is characterized by a business model focused on cost containment, performance measures, quality assurance, efficiencies and the rationing of resources (Gustafson, 2000; Aronson & Sammon, 2000; Baines, 2008; Self et al, 2008). The case managers' role has changed under the transformation initiatives being undertaken at VAC to incorporate the business

model framework. Some of the changes already mentioned are no longer case managing traditional clients; rarely conducting home visits; overburdened with administrative tasks; increased decision making authority; greater accountability; and, completing assessments in the office. Another significant change for case managers is adjusting to where their clients are. Prior to transformation case managers had large geographical areas they were responsible for, and though they were not actively case managing all clients within their geographical areas, case managers could respond to their clients needs when they arose. In this era, case managers were conducting home visits one to two days per week and generally completed three to five visits a day depending on traveling time and purpose for visits.

With transformation, case managers no longer have assigned geographical areas resulting in case managers having clients in multiple areas and distances. Having an assigned geographical area facilitated in depth case management due to the frequency case managers could do face-to-face meetings with clients. With the dissolution of geographical areas it has become extremely difficult to have days conducting home visits, full days of home visits, or days where the bulk of the time isn't in traveling to see clients. The loss of a geographical area also means that case managers have to be aware of community services wherever their clients are located.

Case Managers and Standardization

The new managerialism is characterized by increased standardization focused on quality assurance, performance standard measures and detailed regulatory procedures (Baines, 2008; Ginsberg, 2001). The role of case managers at VAC has become more standardized. Case managers at VAC are now inundated with standardization procedures for the purposes of quality control and performance standard measures. This requires an extensive amount of documentation that must also meet particular standards. This results in less time with clients as case managers are spending the majority of their time inputting data and completing administrative tasks.

There is increased standardization of procedures on how to implement resources as demonstrated through the case managers' assessment, case plan tool. For example, the case managers' assessment consists of tick boxes and limited room for documentation. The case managers' assessment constructs the foundation for the case plan which is strongly focused on resources. The rationale case managers must provide to justify resources is also highly standardized. Rationales must include specific elements, such as legislative justification, how the client will benefit, costs, and time frames. These rationales are one of the many tasks which case managers are audited on in quality assurance and performance standard measures.

Standardization does impact client service. Standardization involves extensive documentation to demonstrate how the institution is meeting what it defines as clients' needs (Baines, 2008). Quality assurance and performance indicators do not measure client outcomes but rather case managers' adherence and compliance to standardization measures (Ginsberg, 2001). Furthermore, standardization practices result in decreased discretionary powers for case managers (Ellis et al, 1999). This is occurring at VAC as evidenced in the quality assurance and performance standards on which case managers are being audited. How case managers are meeting the new standardized practices and procedures is what is being measured and evaluated, not client service. For instance, case managers are being evaluated on the "right" ways of documenting clients' goals, not in how they are assisting client in achieving their goals. Decreased discretionary powers can be seen as an outcome from the narrowing definition of need and the rationing of resources. Standardization in case managers' tools results in a rationing of resources and the narrowing definition of need.

DISCUSSION and CONCLUSION

It is evident that neoliberalism and the new managerialism are the foundation for the transformational initiative occurring at Veterans Affairs

Canada. This is evidenced in the business model framework being implemented from the ruling relations of the extra-local forces down to the local front-line practice of case managers. In its reports and guidelines, VAC has indicated it is introducing a new way of doing business to be leaner, more efficient, being responsible and conscientious of resources to eliminate waste, and watching the fiscal bottom line. Case managers are experiencing the implementation of this managerial business model through changes to their role, changes to the purpose of supervision and changes to their tools. In considering case managers' tools, there are several areas where the implementation of the managerial business model is prominent as the foundational basis driving transformation at VAC. These include the lack of clients' voice in case managers' tools, the ideology behind case managers' tools, and the notion of risk assessments.

Individualism and Clients' Voice

The new managerialism is characterized by a business model framework that is focused on cost containment and a rationing of resources through a narrowed definition of need. It is the role of case managers to implement this

business model through the use of tools which reflect the voice of the institution as opposed to the voice of the client (Florin et al, 2004; Ellis et al, 1999; Junnola et al 2002). There is strong evidence that the clients' voice is missing in the transformation occurring at VAC. Certainly the traditional (senior) client group has had to undergo an adjustment in no longer having their case manager conduct home visits; in fact, they no longer have case managers, except in rare circumstances and for only a limited time. This client group is repeatedly informed of the new way VAC is conducting its business and its shift in focus for their case managers. Clients have become their own service brokers. For example, a traditional veteran may call saying they can no longer manage to clean their house. If the client does not already have this service, the client service agent would conduct a screening to determine if the client meets the criteria for this service. If the client service agent determines the client is eligible for housekeeping services then the client service agent will negotiate frequency and inform the client of how much money will be authorized for this service annually. If there are other unmet needs, the client service agent will determine if these can be met through VAC or if the client will have to access community resources such as CCAC. If for example the screening reveals the client is unable to bathe themselves, then the client service agent would provide the client with the phone number to CCAC and instruct the client to contact them directly. These clients, who are generally quite elderly, are having to navigate the social

service system on their own. This can result in clients having needs that are not being met due to the difficulties of navigating this system.

Another example of the lack of clients' voice at VAC is evident in case managers' tools. Irrespective of the client group, case managers' assessments have many tick boxes and limited room for documentation resulting in case managers' having to decide what information is relevant to include in the assessment. Since this information is the foundation for the case plan, then the case manager must also decide what is relevant to be included there as well. As already described, the case plan asks the client the two questions of "Where do you want be" and "What is preventing you from being there." According to VAC's Guidelines for Case Planning (2011), for case managers to meet quality assurance measures, these are to be documented in the clients' voice. This is a great ideal, but VAC wants clients to be able to identify their long term goals and identify any barriers which may prevent them from achieving their goals. Besides expecting this much from every single client, the other difficulty is that many clients, especially those in situations complex enough to warrant case management, can not adequately answer these questions in the manner and format VAC demands. This requires the case manager to exercise various options such as essentially feed information back to clients regarding something they said or even just come up with their own ideas in order to coach clients about what they could say and then document it in a way that sounds like clients'

voice. This must be done in order to fulfill quality assurance and performance standard measures. In completing this section of the case planning tool, case managers may find that the clients' voice is not heard as they may not be able to take their time with their clients, get to know them, and really find out about their situations, and practice good skills such as active listening and reframing. Case managers are fulfilling the demands of quality assurance measures and performance standards so their work is completed "right." In this sense then, there is a lack of clients' voice.

The Ideology Behind Case Managers' Tools

The new managerialism is a business model which is embedded in documents and practices in order to carry out the functions of business; a key strategy in making ideology natural and normal (Pence, 2001; Pare, 2001; Aronson & Sammon, 2000; Gustafson, 2000). Neoliberalism and the new managerialism can be seen in the case managers' assessment by the ample use of tick boxes and limited space for documentation; but it is also present in the case plan document since the assessment is the basis of the case plan. With the limited space available in the assessment document, case managers must decide what information is relevant enough to be included. If it is a reassessment it is that much more difficult as there may be pertinent information from the prior assessment which should remain in the reassessment. The limited space for

documentation does not allow for sufficient room to include pertinent information needing to remain in the assessment plus additional information. When conducting a reassessment, the exact same assessment tool is used and therefore, case managers are documenting any changes since the last assessment. The limited space in a reassessment can result in the historical context of a client's life being lost.

The increased rationing of resources that is characteristic of managerialism is present in case managers' tools. This is particularly true in the case plan document where the use of resources must be clearly outlined with start and end dates, a break down of costs, the justification for the costs (e.g. rate per hour) and ample space for case managers to document their rationale for making the decisions they are and justifying the resource(s). In addition, the assessment is the foundation for the case plan. If an issue has not been identified in the assessment then it is not transferred into the case plan. This situation can also result in rationing resources.

Case Management and Risk Assessment

The new managerialism is characterized by risk and risk assessment has been instrumental in the shaping of policies, procedures, practices and programs (Munro, 2004; Green, 2007). In society today, much concern regarding risk has been fostered through the media and government and the strength of public

concern and criticism has created an avenue for governments to implement neoliberal and managerial practices in order to manage risks (Munro, 2004; Green, 2007). This risk management is seen through the rationing of resources and developing programs based on individual responsibility all under the guise of offering choice, options, and freedom (Green, 2007). In order to avoid risk, agencies focus on assessing and managing risk as opposed to focusing on the desired outcomes for their clients. Assessing and managing risk is achieved through the development of standardized assessment tools and strict adherence to standardized regulatory procedures (Green, 2007). This allows institutions to place the blame on their staff when things go wrong, i.e. risk is not managed, rather the workers take responsibility for the situation. In other words, risk assessment comes with accountability, but the accountability rests with the staff member as opposed to the institution and it is the staff member(s) who would receive any consequences resulting from the situation.

This is being demonstrated at VAC through the use of risk assessment tools. As already discussed, risk assessments are for internal purposes regarding case managers' workload only; they do not benefit the client in any way. Risk assessments also lead to justifying and rationing of resources. Case managers' must justify the implemented resources by addressing length of time the resource(s) will be required, cost, and justification based in legislation. Case managers are regularly audited to ensure they are completing their tools and

justifying their decisions appropriately. If anything is ever amiss and/or a situation arises regarding client or institutional risk, VAC is not responsible; the case manager is responsible. VAC does extend an appeal to every decision that is made, but that doesn't mean that it will be overturned, or provides the department with an avenue of "correcting" an error by staff to appease public scrutiny and criticism.

It is evident case managers at VAC are now severely impacted by neoliberal ideology and managerial business practice. This is evidenced in the direction VAC is taking, VAC's focus, the language VAC is using to describe the transformation it is undergoing, what the department aims to achieve in its transformational process, and the extent and manner in which underlying macro power structures are penetrating the local arena. Veterans Affairs Canada is "changing the way it conducts its business" and this is evident in the dramatic, rapid, and ongoing changes occurring for case managers. Case managers are now focused on meeting quality assurance and performance standard measures as evidenced in the new texts they must complete and are audited on. This can result in case managers having to be more concerned about meeting the department's bottom line as opposed to advocating against the invisible power structures which are reducing client services. In fact, meeting quality assurance and performance standards may be at the forefront of many case managers'

minds when meeting or talking with their clients rather than having the time to get to know clients and really discovering what the issues are. Furthermore, the implementation of a managerial business model is having an impact on case managers' discretion. Further research is required to learn first hand from clients what they think is missing for them in services from VAC and from case managers in what they would do to improve services for clients.

IMPLICATIONS FOR SOCIAL WORK PRACTICE

Managerialism is a global phenomenon that is unlikely to disappear.

Managerialism is entrenched in the Canadian landscape in all levels of government and social service systems. Managerialism practices and policies are continuously introduced in institutions, often dressed up as the latest "how to" or the new form that will be more "efficient" in order to be more organized. It appears that there are many colleagues and lay people who are not aware of or do not understand neoliberalism and managerialism. This is evidenced in everyday conversations with people and what is being perpetuated in the media. Furthermore, it is also a feature of ideology that what is happening takes on the feature of normalization and this leads to the conclusion that the changes happening are inevitable and beyond critique.

Social workers are committed to social justice and part of fulfilling this commitment is to educate others. Social workers work with many disciplines that do not possess the same understanding of the impacts of neoliberalism and managerialism. Social workers need to educate their co-workers, supervisors, policy makers, and the general public on the underlying invisible power structures in policies and practice so they and their colleagues and the public understand the ramifications on services and people who rely on those services. The more social workers can educate others on how deeply entrenched managerialism is in

policy and practice, the louder their collective voice will be and the more effective they will be as advocates.

There are many ways that social workers can raise this issue collectively. Examples include unions and professional social work organizations. Workshops can be developed and administered in social service agencies. Social workers can network and develop strategies specific to their locations to develop educational sessions for other disciplines and policy makers. Professional social work organizations need to develop ways to educate the public in general on neoliberal propaganda and the dismantling of social services. It is only through sharing this knowledge that social workers can fully demonstrate how we are perpetuating power imbalances rather than dismantling them.

This is easier said than done. As this thesis has demonstrated, ideology is deeply embedded in case managers' tools and is driving and shaping their practice. Change is occurring at such a rapid pace, it is difficult to stop and consider what is actually happening. It is imperative to find ways of resistance and room to maneuver against managerial ruling relations. It often appears that the meso level of management is also often unaware of the ideology in policy and practice. Middle management also then gets caught up in the latest "how to" or document that is going to "simplify" work load. It is this level where forms of resistance and maneuvering may be most effective in changing policy and practice. For instance, social workers can use managerial language back on itself

to advocate for change. Social workers can go to their managers and advocate they have found that some, or all of the, document is ineffective or inefficient and offer ways of altering it that would be more conducive to quality client service. For example, social workers could advocate that their assessment and case plan tools require additional room in order to meet the requirements of documentation, decision making, accountability and performance standard measures. Additional room in these tools would allow more information to be recorded regarding the client, including historical data. There are many other ways for social workers to engage in resistance and they need to find ways to do this that would be effective in their individual workplace.

This research can provide a basis for social workers, policy makers and professionals from interdisciplinary teams to understand the impact of managerialism on social work tools and practice. This research can assist in understanding the impact of underlying invisible power structures on front line practice and client service delivery. This research can facilitate social workers to examine the documents in their institutions and determine how ideology is embedded in them. By learning how underlying power structures are embedded in texts in their agencies, social workers may be more prepared to advocate for their clients and find ways to engage in resistance that makes sense in their workplace.

APPENDICES

Appendix A	Case Managers' Assessment
Appendix B	Case Managers' Case Plan
Appendix C(a)	Regina Risk Indicator Tool - Traditiona
Appendix C(b)	Regina Risk Indicator Tool – Modern
	Case Need & Complexity Indicator

	Cenada			FII	5 140		
AREA COUNSELLO		Date of Assassment: District;					
DEMOGRAPHIC DATA	Information when completer	J			<u> </u>		
Assessment No.	Status:	·	Completed Da	**	Reassessme	ent .	
Vhere was the assessment cond			Completed Da	equi:			
Face-to-Face	,	Specify location					
Other	Specify and cite	exceptional circumstance	95.				
amily Name:		Given Name(s):				
duress:		Date of Birth:		Ag		le 🔘 Fema	
rovince: Postal (Code:	Provincial Hea	Ith Insurance #:	Ta!	ephone#:		
ontact Person:		Relationship:		Tel	ephono #:		
ddress:	•		- 1	ovince:	Postal Code		
the client is not providing the inflationship with the client.	formation, specify the name	of the person who is, his	her telephone nur	nber and	his/her		
ame:		Relationship:		Tet	ephone#:	() -	
GENERAL HEALTH							
general, would you say your he	ealth is: C Excellent		C		~		
	Very Goo	a 81	Good Fair		Poor Declines to	Respond	
	Do you have problems with			Symptom			
Vision	Endocrine (eg. C	Diabetes, thyrold)	1 1	Pain			
Hearing	[Urinary/bowel	•		— Dizzin	058		
Nose/throat/sinus	Malignoncy/cand		1	: Weigh	Velght changes		
Dentel	Musculoskelcini			T. Sleep	Reep disturbances		
Heart	Neurological (ag	, Parkinsons)	1	- Breath	Breathing difficulties		
Lungs/breathing	∫ Skin		1	Heeda			
Digestion/G.f.	Blood pressure/\		į r	Fatigu	•		
Blood disorders	Reproductive/se:	xual function					
Allergies			1				
scribe identified problem areas glmes, difficulty accessing appro	priete health carefactvices,	etc.)	•				
Panasir(as) ka awa ta	5		_				
##### TEMPER TO THE TEMPER TO		nt 🔲					
edication Record med	cations and dosages as the	y appear on the politie (bi	rescription and ove	er the cour	ster)		
##### TEMPER TO THE TEMPER TO		y appear on the bollis (pr	rescription and ove Condition	er the cour	ler) Educe	tion received	
edication Record med	cations and dosages as the	y appear on the politie (bi	rescription and ove	er the cour	Let) Educa Yes	O No	
edication Record med	cations and dosages as the	y appear on the bollis (pr	rescription and ove	er the cour	Educa Yes	Von received No	
edication Record med	cations and dosages as the	y appear on the bollis (pr	rescription and ove	er the cour	Educa O Yes O Yes O Yes	tion received No No No	
edication Record med	cations and dosages as the	y appear on the bollis (pr	rescription and ove	er the cour	Educa Yes	Van received No No No No No	
edication Record med	cations and dosages as the	y appear on the bollis (pr	rescription and ove	er the cour	Educa O Yes O Yes O Yes	tion received No No No	
edication Record med	cations and dosages as the	y appear on the bollis (pr	rescription and ove	er the cour	Educa Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes	Van receivad No No No No No	
edication Record med	cations and dosages as the	y appear on the bollis (pr	rescription and ove	er the cour	Educa Yes Yes Yes Yas Yes Yes Yes Yes	Vion received No No No No No No	
edication Record mediation Medication	cations and desages as the Desage/Free	y eppear on the bottle (pi	escription and ove	er the cour	Educe Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Ye	Son received No	
edication Record medication Medication Medication	cations and desages as the Desage/Free	guency Posage	rescription and ove	w the cour	Educa O Yes O Yes O Yas O Yas O Yas O Yas O Yes O Yes O Yes	Son received No	
edication Record medication Medication Medication	cations and desages as the Desage/Free	y appear on the bottle (p) quency	escription and ove Gondition		Educa O Yes	Van recoived No	
edication Record mediation Mediation Mediation you prescribed oxygen?	Cations and dosages on the Dosage/Free	y appear on the bottle (p) quency	escription and ove Gondition		Educa O Yes O Yes O Yas O Yas O Yas O Yas O Yes O Yes O Yes	Van recoived No	
edication Record medi- Medication Medication a you prescribed oxygen?	Doesge/Free	y appear on the bottle (p) quency	escription and ove Gondition		Educa O Yes	Van received No	
edication Record medication Medication Medication	Cations and dosages as the Dosage/Free Openage/Free Opena	y uppear on the bottle (programme) No Dosage Speci	escription and ove Gondition		Educa O Yes	Van received No	

Appendix A

72

Fite No. :
a, etc.)

O Declines to respond
Poor Declines to respond
rossful Extremely stressful bit stressful Oeclines to respond
○ Yes ○ No
il sotivities? O Yes O No
○ Yes ○ No
Suspiciousness
Happiness
Conteniment
☐ Helpicsanoss
manager of the second
○ Yes ○ No
ory Problem solving
neglect Nan-communicative
Declines to respond
O Declines to respond
Minimal supervision Occasional assistance/supervision
ndependent ervision, frequency, limitations, etc.
and an advantage of the
·
-

$\label{eq:MSW} \textbf{MSW Thesis} - \textbf{H. Street, McMaster - School of Social Work}$

Canada Canada	Canada			File No.:
INSTRUMENTAL ACTIVITIES	OF DAILY I	IVING (IADLs)	·	
Does a long term physical or mental con amount or kind of activity you can do at i	dition of healt nome?	h problem reduce the	O Sometimes O Often	Never Declines to respond
Levels of Independence	2 = Significa	re ant supervision or assistance ant daily supervision or assi	5 = Occasi	il supervision onal assistance/supervision ndent
Activities	Leval	Detail aids/devices used,	necessary help or super	vision, frequency, limitations, etc.
Housekeeping				
Preparing meals		┪		
Shopping/errands		-		
Laundry		1		
Groundskeeping		1		
Repair and maintenance		1		
Using transportation or driving		7		
Using the telephone		1		
Banking		1		
Comments:		<u> </u>		
Unmet Need: Consultation: MOBILITY			Referral;	
Are you having difficulty being mobile?		() Yes	O No	
How far can you walk ?			O NO	O Declines to respond
 				
LEVELS OF INDEPENDENCE	2 = Signific	are cant supervision/assistence ittent daily supervision/assis	5 = Doc:	nal supervision stanal assistance/supervision endent
Activities	Level	Detail aids/devices used, n	ecessary help or supervi	sion, frequency, fimitations, etc.
Transferring				
Walking (indoors)		•		
Walking (outdoors)	1			
Prosthesis/orthotic				
Using wheelchair or scooter				
Climbing / descending stairs				.
Commenta:	<u> </u>		 	
Unmet Need: Consultation:			Referral:	

**	Veterans Affai Canada		nciens Comb eneda	altants					File No.:	
PHYSICAL	L ENVIRON	MENT								
Do you have	problems wher	e you are tivin	g (ar where	you Intend to	move)?		O Ye		C	Declines to respond
How satisfied	are you with y	our housing?	O Very S	allafied		٥,٥	(e)ther satis	fied or dissatia	fled () Ve	ery dissatisfied
ŀ			◯ Satisfie	ed			dssatisfied	·		eclines to respond
Housing Co	nditions and A	Accessibility				••				
	evaluation conc			C) Yes	<u> </u>		if no, se	ecily:		
Location:	O Urbs Rurs				Sta	itus;	Owr Ten			
Type of Resi	dence:									
O House			Q co					Medical Fac	ility	
O Apartme	Married Quarter	rs (PMQ) -		nting Senior : rsing Home	Cilizen's	housing	(Other		
Boarding				sonal Care I	dome					
			<u> </u>							
					if o	ther, spe	cify			
	tal and Accom	modation Ap	praisal (ldo:	ntify the pro	blem ar	en(a)):				
☐ Housing		Telephone				Acce	ssibility	(Internal)	□ 0	Julities
☐ Bathroom	, (<u>ц</u> лр) [.] Appliances				Acce	resibility	(External)		roximity to services
Bathroom	(Shower)	Smoke/CO	detectors			Phys	ical barriers	3		Insanitary conditions
Comments: a	ppropriatenes	of housing, Is	sues affecti	ng client/fam	ily, proxi	mity to m	edicat care	employment e		
•										
ĺ										
		**								
Unmet need	: 🗀 😋	ngulfation:					Refer	rei:		
COMMUN	CATION AN	D SENSOI	RY FUNCT	ION	-					A CONTRACTOR OF STREET OF STREET OF STREET
Have you an	y difficulties so	cing, reading,	hearing or s	peaking ?				◯ Yes	ON	lo .
:	Levels of in	rdependence:		spendency		•				
			1 = Proble	m/restriction blem with ai	, with or	without a	iid on engylend			
			3 = No pro	iblem with si	d, some d	**********	ce required			
			4 = Indep	endent						
Fi	enoitons		Level	Detail aid/d etc.	levice us	ed, frequ	ency, sufet	y issues, neces	ssary help	or supervision, limitations,
VISION		Left -							-	
CNIB#:		Right								
HEARING	_	Left								
		Right								
		Sposking	_							
COMMUNIC	[-	Writing	<u> </u>			,				
		Reading	<u> </u>							
Comments:										
Homet No.								- <u>-</u>		-
Unmet Need:		noitation:					Refer	nal:		
										446 - Harris Janes J

		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
LIFESTYLE		_
In the last three months, hove you lelt the need to or been instructed to esting, drinking, smoking, gambling, physical activity or siceping habits	change your	O Yes
	•	O No
Current Patierns	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	O Declines to respond
Do you How aften ?	Client perceives as problem	Perception of problem by others (by whom?)
Yes No	Yes No	(-)
Smoke ? O		
· Use drugs / sicohol ? O	0.0	
Have trregular steep?		
That in agolar steep 70 0		
Keep physically active ?	0 0	
Have * good appetite ?		•
FEET	. 0 0	
Est a well balanced diet?	0 0	
Comments: (consider second		Arria manije, się z
comments: (consider concerns regarding drug or alcohol use, addiction	is, nealth promotion, etc.)	
nmet Necd: Consultation:	Referral:	
MPLOYMENT		
re you retired from all types of employment?		
to just and the types of employments	O Yes O No	O Declines to respon
that is your current employment status?		
Full time Temporary	lf unemployed:	
	☐ Romonouth	
	Permanently	
Part time Self-employed	☐ Temporarily	unable
Part time Self-employed Seasonal Unemployed	Temporarily Seeking em	unable ployment
Part time Self-cmployed Seasonal Unemployed	☐ Temporarily ☐ Seeking emp	unable oloymení obour market
Pert time Self-cmployed Seasonal Unemployed Permanent	☐ Temporarily ☐ Seeking emp	unable oloymení obour market
Part time Self-comployed Seasonal Unemployed	☐ Temporarily ☐ Seeking emp	unable oloymení obour market
Pert time Self-cmployed Seasonal Unemployed Permanent	☐ Temporarily ☐ Seeking emp ☐ Decreased is	unable oloymení obour market
Part time Self-cmployed Seasonal Unemployed Permanent Comments: ec type of position currently held, previous inter-mittage over	☐ Temporarily ☐ Seeking emp ☐ Decreased is	unable oloymení obour market
Part time Self-employed Seasonal Unemployed Permanent comments: eg type of position currently held, previous jobs, military occupationges, employment goals, and any employment plans	☐ Temporarily ☐ Secking em; ☐ Decreased i: upetion, transferrable skills, reason for :	unable oloymení obour market
Part time Self-omployed Seasonal Unemployed Permanent Omments: ec type of position currently held, previous intermitiation or controlled to the controlle	☐ Temporarily ☐ Seeking emp ☐ Decreased is	unable oloymení obour market
Part time Self-omployed Seasonal Unemployed Permanent comments: eg type of position currently held, previous jobs, military occupalitings, employment goals, and any employment plans nmet Need: Consultation:	☐ Temporarily ☐ Secking em; ☐ Decreased i: upetion, transferrable skills, reason for :	unable oloyment sbour market obsences from work, work related
Part time Self-omployed Seasonal Unemployed Permanent Omments: eg type of position currently held, previous jobs, military occurationses, employment goals, and any employment plans Inmet Need: Consultation:	☐ Temporarily ☐ Secking em; ☐ Decreased i: upetion, transferrable skills, reason for :	unable oloymení obour market
Part time Self-omployed Seasonal Unemployed Permanent comments: eg type of position currently held, previous jobs, mifitary occupations, employment goals, and any employment plans nmet Need: Consultation:	☐ Temporarily ☐ Secking em; ☐ Decreased i: upetion, transferrable skills, reason for :	unable oloyment obsurt market obsunces from work, work releted
Part time Self-omployed Seasonal Unemployed Permanent comments: eg type of position currently held, previous jobs, mifitary occupations, employment goals, and any employment plans nmet Need: Consultation:	☐ Temporarily ☐ Secking em; ☐ Decreased is upetion, transferrable skills, reason for a	unable ployment abour market absonces from work, work releted
Part time Self-omployed Seasonal Unemployed Permanent omments: eg type of position currently held, previous jobs, mifitary occupalitingss, employment goals, and any employment plans nmet Need: Consultation: DUCATION Digou have any concerns with your current level of education?	Temporarily Seeking em Decreased is upetion, transferrable skills, reason for a	unable ployment abour market absonces from work, work related Declines to respond
Part time Self-omployed Seasonal Unemployed Permanent comments: eg type of position currently held, previous jobs, military occupablenges, employment goals, and any employment plans namet Need: Consultation: DUCATION Divide your property level of education?	Temporarily Secking employments and paceased in pacea	unable ployment abour market absonces from work, work related Declines to respond
Part time Self-omployed Seasonal Unemployed Permanent Comments: eg type of position currently held, previous jobs, military occurationess, employment goals, and any employment plans DUCATION O you have any concerns with your current level of education? That is the highest level of education that you currently possess? Less than high school	Temporarily Temporarily Secking employment of the control of the	unable ployment abour market absonces from work, work related Declines to respond
Part time Self-omployed Seasonal Unemployed Permanent Comments: eg type of position currently held, previous jobs, military occurationses, employment goals, and any employment plans Consultation: DUCATION Do you have any concerns with your current level of education? That is the highost level of education that you currently possess? Less than high school High school or equivalent	Temporarily Seeking em Decreased is upetion, transferrable skills, reason for a Referral: Yes No 3 years college/technical/trada Buchelors	unable playment abour market absences from work, work related Decilines to respond
Part time Self-omployed Seasonal Unemployed Permanent Comments: eg type of position currently held, previous jobs, military occupationess, employment goals, and any employment plans Consultation: DUCATION O you have any concerns with your current level of education? That is the highest level of education that you currently possess? Less than high school High school or equivalent Some college/technical	Temporarily Seeking em Decreased is upetion, transferrable skills, reason for a Referral: Yes No 3 years college/technical/trade Bachelors Masters	unable ployment abour market absonces from work, work related Declines to respond
Part time Self-omployed Seasonal Unemployed Permanent comments: eg type of position currently hald, previous jobs, military occupationges, employment goals, and any employment plans commet Need: Consultation; EDUCATION o you have any concerns with your current level of education? What is the highest level of education that you currently possess? Less than high school High school or equivalent Some college/technical 2 years college/technical/trade	Temporarily Seeking em Decreased is upetion, transferrable skills, reason for a Referral: Yes No 3 years college/technical/trade Bachelors Masters Doctorate	unable ployment abour market absonces from work, work related Declines to respond
Part time Self-omployed Seasonal Unemployed Permanent comments: eg type of position currently hald, previous jobs, military occupations, employment goals, and any employment plans namet Need: Consultation; EDUCATION o you have any concerns with your current level of education? What is the highest level of education that you currently possess? Less than high school High school or equivalent Some college/technical/trade	Temporarily Seeking em Decreased is upetion, transferrable skills, reason for a Referral: Yes No 3 years college/technical/trade Bachelors Masters Doctorate	unable ployment abour market absonces from work, work related Declines to respond
Part time Self-omployed Seasonal Unemployed Permanent omments: eg type of position currently held, previous jobs, military occupations, employment goals, and any employment plans nmet Need: Consultation:	Temporarily Seeking em Decreased is upetion, transferrable skills, reason for a Referral: Yes No 3 years college/technical/trade Bachelors Masters Doctorate	unable ployment abour market absonces from work, work related Declines to respond
Part time Self-omployed Seasonal Unemployed Permanent comments: eg type of position currently hald, previous jobs, military occupations, employment goals, and any employment plans namet Need: Consultation; EDUCATION o you have any concerns with your current level of education? What is the highest level of education that you currently possess? Less than high school High school or equivalent Some college/technical/trade	Temporarily Seeking em Decreased is upetion, transferrable skills, reason for a Referral: Yes No 3 years college/technical/trade Bachelors Masters Doctorate	unable ployment abour market absonces from work, work related Declines to respond
Part time Self-omployed Seasonal Unemployed Permanent comments: eg type of position currently hald, previous jobs, military occupationges, employment goals, and any employment plans commet Need: Consultation; EDUCATION o you have any concerns with your current level of education? What is the highest level of education that you currently possess? Less than high school High school or equivalent Some college/technical 2 years college/technical/trade	Temporarily Seeking em Decreased is upetion, transferrable skills, reason for a Referral: Yes No 3 years college/technical/trade Bachelors Masters Doctorate	unable ployment abour market absonces from work, work related Declines to respond

Velerans Affairs Canada	Anciens Combattants Canada		, File No	o. :
PSYCHO-SOCIAL PROFILE				······································
Are you having any difficulty with yo social supports?	ur family circumstances or	○ Yes	O №	Oeclines to repond
How would you describe your sense community?	of belonging to the	O Very Strong O Somewhat strong	Somewhat weak Very weak	O Declines to respond
Family Environment:		·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Household profile includes:	Indicate names of Individua general health status	ls residing with the client, d	uration of marriage and/or	relationship(s), ages, and
Spouse/Partner:]			
Child(ren)]			
Step-child(ren)				
Parent(s)				
Other				
Describe interactions, functioning, or	oles within nousehold, etc.			·
Next of kin		Relationship		Telephone number
Social History and Supports:	Outline client's history includ	ing hobbies and leisure act	ivitles. Identify significant	persons of support, etc
Loss Issues:	identify the loss issues and sense of belonging, self-wor	how the client is reacting ar th, identity, etc.	d feeling about these loss	es. Consider issues such as
Comments:		* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *	The state of the s	
Unmet Needs: Consultation	on:	R	eferral;	t an hormony classy

<u>= 77 = 289</u>		Салара					1	15U- 1	
PRIMARY CAI	REGIVER					_			
Is there someone	you rely on most for	help 7		O Yes		.O.			eclines to resp
, , , ,	p to someone ? (inc	roding chiloca	re;	→ Yes		0 1	10	O D	eclines to resp
If yes, specify care									
Caregiver Information Caregiver Information	ation It or spouse go to "A	ren of anciete		Family Name	9:		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
		IEM OI BOSISIE	nce provided-	Given name	(B)				
Relationship to the		Family M	emper 🔲				Friend	Other	Age
Do you live with the	a client?	O Yes (ОМ С	If No.spe	clfy:				
Address				City			Province	Posial Code	Telephone nu
Do you have any n	nedical problems?	○ Yes	O №	if Yes, spe	cify:		<u></u>	1	
Area of assistance	provided: Comm	nents (Indica	la number of hou	ere spent per d	lay with the c	are recip	lent and, if p	oscible, per ac	ogvi(y.)
As the Care Recip	ingt								
	ur caregivor is mona totional health	eging?		8	Excellent Excellent	0 60) Fair) Fair	O Poor
Are you satisfied w	th the care you are r	ecalving ?				<u> </u>	· · · · ·) Yes	O No
Do you need additi Explain :	onal help/assistance	?					7	Yes	O No
explain:				•					
As the Caregiver:									
How do you think ti Explain:	h e care recipient is c	oping ?		C) Excellent	() Go	90d C) Fair	O Poor
Caregiver available Are you able to con Explain:	lity and motivation tinus to be involved	;						○ Ye	n ○ No
What is the most di Explain:	ifficult part for you, in	caring for thi	з регзов?	<u> </u>	 , 		•		
Do you have booku	p plans, should the c	are giving an	rangements bec	oma unworke	ole ? (consid	er childca	ire, if approp	riate) () Yes	O No
Explain:								•	
Type of assistance t			· -						
What would help yo Explain :	u to manage better ?	•							
expiant.				•					
Would you consider Explain :	using additonal sup	ports that ma	y be svallable in	this communi	ty ?				
Comments:		-	 -						
								THE BACKGROUND	
Unmet Need:	Consultation:			•	Refer	ral:			

*	Velerens Affairs Canada	Anciens Combatt Canada	unts		File No. :	
FINANCI				•		
Does your	current income and inv	estments satisfy your n	eeds?		O Yes	Oeclines to respon
Because of person with	any physical or mental looking after your pers	condition or health pro onel finences such as	blem, bank ti	do you need the help of another annuations or paying bills?	○ Yes ○ No	Oeclines to respon
Oo you hav	e the following :	Ye	s No	Oetalis		
1) Ajoint b	ank account ? (Specify	(with whom)	0			
2) An up-lo	-date will ?	0	0		*	
3) An arran monetan incapabi	gement for someone to y decisions for you sho e of doing so?	make the Uld you become	0			TO THE PERSON NAMED AND ADDRESS OF THE PERSON NAMED AND ADDRES
4) An erren decision: doing so	gement for someone to s for you should you be ?	omake health Come incapable of	0	a y n the him concerns the sty year of the		. And to properly described and
Comments:	Consider debite or trustee, etc.	ads, income changes,	โกลกต	ial responsibilities, household inc	ome when appropriate,	existence of power of attorn
Unmot Need	±: Consultat	ion:		Referra	14	
	= 114.77*10%			Releita		
RESOUR	e any resources that he	ela unu camala la nons				
	·	sip you remain in your	commic	inity? Yes		Declines to respond
Туро	of Service	Servic	e Prov	dder Information	Frequency	Funding
						O Internal O Externa
	[
				-		
	ļ					O Internet O Externa
					[
				······································	-	O Internal O Externa
					_	
						O Internal O Externa
						O Internat O Externa
						O Internal O Externa
						1
					-	O Internal O External
						O Internal O External
	ſ					C External
					<u> </u>	<u> </u>
						Internal C Externat
	1				I	1

*	Veterans Affairs Canada	Anciens Combattants Canada		File No. :	1
RESOU	RCES			. j	
Do you utili	ze any resources that h	nelp you remain in your community ?	○ Yes ○ No	0	Declines to respond
Тур	e of Service	Service Provider Inf	ormation	Frequency	Funding
					O Internal O External
Sign-Off					
	ments for the annual V		O Have be	en met (Have not been met
An annual f	ollow-up date for this n	on-VIP client:) Is requir	Š	Has been declined Should remain as is
Does this cl	ient require a Case Pla imet needs exist, provid	n or the updating of an existing Case li de rationale:	Plan?	Ö) Yes () No
Area Counsellor Signature Āre			Área Counsellor Code		Completed Date:

,	Case Plan		Appendix 6
Family Name:	Given Name:	File Number:	
Case Plan ID; Case Plan Status; Monitoring Date; Anticipated Completion Date; Case Manager Code; Closed Date;			
Overview Of The Situation			
Where Do You Want To Be?			
What is Preventing You From Getti	ng There?		
Disengagement Summary			 -
		,	
Desired Outcomes			

Indicators Of Success			
			· · ·
Action Steps	Due Date		L
Action Step	Due Date	Responsibili	<u>'y</u>
	!		
]		
Resources			
Resource			
	Resource Type: Provider Information:	L	
	Provider information:	······································	
	Authorization Type:		
1	Frequency:		
	Rate:		
	Cost:		
	Start Date:		
	End Date:		
	Rationale:		
	Resource Type:		
	Provider Information:		
	Authorization Type:		
	Frequency:		
	Rate:		
	Cost:		
	Start Date:		
	End Date:		
	Rationale:		

Progress Note	Client Contact:				
	Yes F No F				
	Yes F No F				
	Yes I" No I"				

3*3	Canada	Ċ	anada	_+ -						
Regina	Risk Indicate	ог То	oi*	***	9313	***************************************	essate to the sett	1e		
Reason comp	eleted							_		
Family same			Given name					-		
						MIOSIS FIRMING				
Date complete	ed (vvvv-mm-dd)	Cample	med bye				T	_		
			cu py				UserCode			
	Client		Eardy/Idend	Case Managed	75	-1-11	-	_		
Source of Info	mation 💳	sional		1 -	1	ostai code	District Office			
Age		-	_ 	_1	╀	Trape	<u> </u>	_		
		- 1-	Status		\vdash	Meals		ı		
		· · · _	⊣		_	4		ļ		
			- Land			4		(0) (1) (2) (2) (2) (1) (1) (2) (2) (2) (1) (1) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (3) (4) (4) (4) (4) (4) (4) (4) (4) (4) (4		
	-		_							
Gender	Protection (1) Application (1) Application (2) Application (2) Application (2) Application (3) Application (4) Application (5) Application (6) Application (7) Applica			l						
		· · -				esa rhiw				
		<u> </u>	-		<u> </u>	1		L		
Marital	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	_	 [—			1		
Status	•	`` _	 {					Į		
		ş	10.14 5-1-1			with assist				
divorced separated (1) Involuntarily separated (1)		∵ ∟		=						
		- ⊢	-{		<u> </u>	1.00	unable to complete (-2)	_		
		· ′ ட	4		L	Dressing by scir				
Net	···						with assist (1)	Ĺ		
Monthly	•		Activity	•	L			Ļ		
			~ાં ો							
		∵ ,—			<u>Ļ</u>		by self (0)	L		
			within		<u> </u>		with assist (1)	Ĺ		
Living	 ,			- · ·	<u> </u>			L		
Arrangements	i	_			<u> </u>		untible to complete (-2)	1		
			-		<u> </u>			L		
		_			L		(1) Jeizen riliw	L		
	-		Total Days		Ц			((0) (1) (2) (2) (2) (3) (4) (2) (4) (4) (4) (4) (4) (4) (4) (4) (4) (4		
			4		Ш			L		
Type of			4				- ' '	L		
Residence		·	-					L		
					-			L		
		·			Ш	and many		L		
no fixed address (4)		·	1			AUC BOWEI Manag	- 0,00(0,			
		· 🛏	1		Ш	with assis				
Caregiver					$oxed{oxed}$			Ĺ		
Support		`			Ш	44-45:	***************************************	L		
		•	1		Ш	Added Risks	not present (U)	L		
	•	·	1		\square		present (4)	L		
	unstable, imited (330	while to complete (-2)	Щ	Explains	·	_		
	short term, accasional (·				RIS	SK LEVELS			
	no significant (_						_		
	unshie to complete (-	3}	<u> </u>			Minimal Risk Low Risk	0-7 (8-14 (¥		
ATOT	LSCORE		OUT)F			15-20	×		
0 = \$117	n of scores		= 54 minus the sur		- 1	At Risk	21 - 25	×		

The client's personal information is collected for the purpose of identifying client needs. Provision of the information is as a voluntery basis,

The personal information collected on this form is protected from unauthorized disclosure by the Privacy Act. The recorded opinion about an individual is considered personal information about and belonging to that individual. The Privacy Act also provides individuals with a right of access to personal information about themselves under the control of like Department, so well as a right to challenge like accuracy and completeness of their personal information and have it amended as appropriate.

For further information on the above statement, contact the Access to Information and Privacy Coordinator's Office, Victorina Affairs Consid., PQ Box 7700, Charlotterows, PE, C1A BM9. For further information on where the information is stored please refer to the Government of Canada Info Source Publication.

VAC 853a (2012-06)



*GSN2001 Adapted and printed with permission Ce formulaire est disponible en français. Page 1 of 1

Canadä

Appendix C(a)

1

VAC 854e (2012-05)

	nciens Corr enada	nbattants			RUFIAT	Appendix C(b)
Regina Risk Indicator T		ij iš				
				· Protect	ed when completed	.
Reason Completed					ON ID	
Femily name	Given name			Middle name	<u> </u>	
Date of birth (yyy-mosts) Age	Gender	Gender Marital status			Dependents	
Postal code Still Serving Yes No O	Date of relei	150 (mmmmd) Reason to	z disci	28110	Casualty referral	
Employment sletus	Source(s) of info			ClienVself	Familylfriend	
RROD date (yyyymm-dd) Date completed o	yr-mn-coj Comj	sleted by		Professional User code	Other District Office	
Case Managed Yes (No (losi	res () No ()		SISIP Yes C		,
Income (level of nene(0)	Chronic Pai		1	SISIP Yes C	D No O N/A O	
concern with) some (1)	CIROMS FAI	managed (1)		Thor transport	with assist (1)	
Very (2)		partially menaged (2)			total assist (2)	
unable to completa (-2) Type of Residence	4	, unmenaged (3)	<u> </u>		le to complete (-2)	
Pre-release:	Self-Rated	unable to complete (-3) good (0)		IADL Telephona	by self (0) with assist (1)	
housing arrangements made (0)	Physical	fair (1)		1	total assist (2)	
no housing assengements made (1)	Health	poor (2)			le to complete (-2)	
Post-reigase:	Self-Rated	unable to complete (-2) good (0)		IADL Meals	by sell (0)	
hause/opt (0) subsidized housing (1)	intental	fair (t)	-	1	with essiat (1) lotal ausist (2)	
housing with supports (2)	Health	poor (2)		ມກສຽ	e to complete (-2)	
assisted living, group (3)	Montal Statu	unable to complete (-2)		IADL Medications	by self (0)	
no fixed address (4)			-	1	with assist (1)	
unable to complete (-4) Living Arrangements	- ~	mpioms of mental liness see guidelines (1) mTBI (2)	-	, unab	total assist (2) e to complete (-2)	
1	0	x mejor mental iliness (3)	\vdash	ADL Bathing	by saif (G)	
Pre-release: living with others (0)	-}	- ABI (4)]	with assist (1)	
anticipate living along (1)	Hospital Adr	unable to complete (-4)	-	(clai essist (2)		
Post-release:	within the La	nission no visits (0) ast 24 once (1)	-	ADL Dressing	e lo complete (-2)	
(1) with spouse only (0)	_Months	Nvice (2)	\vdash	Nor measing	by self (0) with sesist (1)	
with spouse and dependents (0)	-	more than twice (3)		1	total assist (2)	
with other family (1)	-	unable to complete (-3)		unabi	o to complete (-2)	
with others (2)	Hospital Tota	nī Days no days (0) 1 - 7 days (1)	<u> </u>	ADL Eating	by self (0)	
single parent (2)	4	8 - 14 days (2)	-		with againt (1)	
unable to complete (-2) Family/Social (Informal) Support	-}	15+ days (3)	\vdash	unabi	total assist (2) e to complete (-2)	
Pre-release:		uneble to complete (-3)		ADL Transfers	by self (0)	
IMing with others (0)	Added Risks		<u></u>		with assist (1)	
anticipate limiteding support (1)	┪	ene added risk (4) 2 added risks (8)	<u></u>	~	total assist (2)	
Post-release:]	3 or more (12)	<u> </u>	unabi ADL Urinary	by self (0)	
stable, available (0)	Exclain		ı	Management	with assist (1)	
Stable, limited (1) Unstable, available (2)	-{				latal assist (2)	4
unstable, limited (2)	SCORE	NO IADUADL DEFICE	75	unabi	to complete (-2)	
short term, occasional (2)	1 SUM OF ISI	st 12 attributes /45:		ADL Bowel Management	by self (0)	
no significant (3)]	6 / 45		-	with assist (1) total assist (2)	
Addictions wors (0)	╡			unabk	to complete (-2)	
non-active 5+ years (1)		YES IADLIADL DEFI	CITS		LEVELS	
non-active 1 - 4 years (2)	- Sum of al	l attributes /65:		Minimat Risk	0-4	
non-active < 1 year (3)	1	0 /65		Low Risk	5-9 Q	
active addiction (4)	active addiction (4)		15 - 19			
possible addiction (5) unable to complete (-5)	-	•		riigh Risk	20+	
The Information you provide on this form is collecte. Act and the Veterous Health Care Regulations for complete any part of the form or submitting on inco-	_l I under the puther 19 purpose of Iden	ity of the Canadian Forces Me Nying client needs. Provision			puneal and Compensation ary basis. Failure to	
compete any part of the form or submitting on inco The paramet information collected on this form is p considered personal information about and belong about themselves under the control of the Opparin emended as appropriate.	nposes torm may re oteoted from unacting to that individual rol, as well as a st	esuri in delays, shortzed disclosure by the Pri il. The Privacy Act also provid thit to shallongs the neutrons	vacy Ar	st. The recorded opinion : viduels with a right of acc	sbout an individual is	
emended as appropriate. For further information on the above stalament, co- Chadottetown, PE, CIA SME. For further informati						
- , and a second displicant		2001 Adapted and origi			JUNEUR FEDRUERUM.	

Canad'ä

90

ľ

VAC 8740 (2012-06)

Case Need and	Complexit	, Indias	tor (CNICI)	B1 E 41 1111		are er a a resent su a refe det		
Reason completed	Complexity	nuica	tor (CNCI)			Protected whe	n compl	eted
Family name	le:	ven name	-		la et et al			
	131	AGII HEHBE			Middle i	ກລຸກາຍ		
Completed by	<u> </u>		User code	CSDN	ID.	Date of CNCI	Annue ma	a.deD
-						DEIC OF CITO	(AAAA-11112	
INTRODUCTION Based on client's stage, assessment(s), please : guidelines where requin		situation, waspropriate	which may be su level from the d	pported rop dow	i by avail vn box, F	able profession Please refer to r	əl əting	
NEED: Scoring criteria: no imm or improvement (2)	sediate need for	improveme	nt (0); some ne	ed for in	nprovem	ent (1); conside	rable ne	ed
Mhat level of need for in I. Physical health	nprovement is th	e client exp	periencing In the	follow:	กฎ?			
2. Emotional health								
). Mental health								
. Social environment								
i. Economic environmer	પ્ર							
. Physical environment								
COMPLEXITY: Scoting criteria: nil com complexity level (3); high		low comple	exity fevel (1); m	oderate	complex	kity level (2); co	nsiderab	le
'. Need(s) and/or issue(•					
. Resource requiremen	ts					•		
NTENSITY (STAGE IN Scoring criteria; nil inter evel (3); high intensity to	isity level (C): Iou	v intensity l	evel (1); modera	ate inter	nsity leve	el (2); considera	ble inten	sity
. What is the clients sta	ge in process le	vel?						
NTENSITY (STAGES C Scoring criteria: no char lage(1); preparation or	age required or t	ermination :	stage (0); preco	ntempla	ation, cor	nlemplation, or r	naintena	ince
0. What is the client's s	tage of change I	evel?						
DESIRED OUTCOME: Scoring criteria: no.imm or improvement (2)	ediate need for i	mprovemer	nt (0); some nee	d for la	provema	ent (1); consider	able nee	ed
1. Optimal capacity and	well being							
2. Self-actualization	- •							
ASE MANAGEMENT (coring criteria: no effor Vhat is the current case	t required (0): m	oderate effo	ort required (1);	conside	erable eff	fort required (2)		
3. Епдаде, тападе, со	ordinate, suppor	t, advocate	. and empower	client?				
4. Ensure appropriate a								
								_
				ļ	CN	ici Score Rang		
OTAL CASE NEED AND IDICATOR SCORE	COMPLEXITY	0 /34		Low			0-12	의
		L	J	_	erate		13 - 22	낒
ha lafamantian ever				High			23+	<u>U</u>
he information you provide or nd Compensation Act and the on a voluntary basis. Failure	: Vererans Health Ca	wa Reculution	is for the nuraose of	Identifuir	va eliani na:	este. Omudeloo of th	esteblishn e informat	nent ion
he personal information collect in individual is considered per ight of access to personal info	tonal internation ab	out and beleas	alsa ta fiset individu	i The P	ricer a det :	alco orașidos individ	lonie with a	

For further information on the above statement, contact the Access to Information and Privacy Coordinator's Office, Veterons Affairs Canada, PO Sex 7700, Charlottolown, PE, C1A 8M9. For further information on where this information is stored please refer to the Government of Canada Info Source Publication.

Ce formulaire est disponible en français.

. Canadä

91

Appendix D

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Ahmed, S. (2007). You End Up Doing the Document Rather than Doing the Doing: Diversity, Race Equality and the Politics of Documentation. <u>Ethnic and Racial Studies</u>, Vol. 30, No.4.

Aronson, J. & Sammon, S. (2000). Practice Amid Social Service Cuts and Restructuring: Working with the Contradictions of 'Small Victories.' <u>Canadian</u> Social Work Review, Vol. 17, No.2.

Baines, D. (2008). Race, resistance, and restructuring: Emerging skills in the new social services. Social Work, 53, 123-131.

Boushel, M. (2000). What Kind of People Are We? "Race", Anti-Racism and Social Welfare Research. British Journal of Social Work 30: 71-89.

Brodie, J. (1999). The Politics of Social Policy in the Twenty-First Century. Citizens or Consumers? Social Policy in a Market Society, Broad, D, Antony W. (Eds). Fernwood Publishing.

Campbell, M. & McGregor, G. (2002) <u>Mapping Social Relations: A Primer in Doing Institutional Ethnography</u>. Garamond Press, Ontario.

Ellis, K., Davis, A., Rummery, K. (1999). Needs Assessment, Street-level Bureaucracy and the New Community Care. <u>Social Policy & Administration</u>. Vol. 33, No. 3, September, pp 262-280.

Evans, T. & Harris, J. (2004). Street-Level Bureaucracy, Social Work and the (Exaggerated) Death of Discretion. British Journal of Social Work 34: 871-895.

Finlay, Linda (2002). "Outing" the Researcher: <u>The Provenance, Process, and Practice of Reflexivity Qualitative Health Research</u>, 12: 531-545.

Florin, J., Ehrenberg, A., Ehnfors, M. (2004). Patients' and Nurses' Perceptions of Nursing Problems in an Acute Care Setting. <u>Journal of Advanced Nursing</u>, 51(2). 140-149.

George, V., & Wilding, P. (2002). <u>Globalization and human welfare</u>. Houndmills, Basingstoke, Hampshire; New York: Palgrave.

Ginsberg, L. (2001). Chapter 7: Program Monitoring and Quality Control. <u>Social Work Evaluation: Principles and Methods</u>. University of South Carolina. Allyn and Bacon

Green, D. (2007). Risk and Social Work Practice. <u>Australian Social Work</u>, Vol.60, No.4

Gustafson, D. L. (2000). Home Care Before and after Reform: A Comparative Analysis of Two Texts in Action. <u>Care and Consequences: The Impact of Health</u> Care Reform. Fernwood Publishing.

Hoggett, P. (2006). Private Passions. The Public Good and Public Service Reform. <u>Social Policy and Administration</u>. Vol.40, No.7

Junnola, T., Eriksson, E., Salantera, S., Lauri, S. (2002). Nurses' decision-making in collecting information for the assessment of patients' nursing problems. <u>Journal of Clinical Nursing</u>, 11: 186-196.

LaSala, M. C. (2003). When Interviewing "Family": Maximizing the Insider Advantage in the Qualitative Study of Lesbians and Gay Men. <u>Journal of Gay</u> and Lesbian Social Services 15(1): 15-30.

Munro, E. (2004). The Impact of Audit on Social Work Practice. <u>British Journal of Social Work</u>, Vol.34,

Neuman, L. (2011). <u>Social Research Methods: Qualitative and Quantitative</u> Approaches. 7th Edition. Pearson, Boston.

Pare, A. (2004). Texts and Power: Toward a Critical Theory of Language. <u>Social Work in a Corporate Era: Practices of Power and Resistance</u>. Davies, L. & Leonard, P. (eds). Ashgate Publishing Ltd.

Pence, E. (2001). Safety for Battered Women in a Textually Mediated Legal System. <u>Studies in Cults, Orgs and Socs.</u>, Vol 7 pp 199-229.

Penna, S., Paylor, I., Washington, J. (2000). Globalization, social exclusion and the possibilities for global social work and welfare. <u>European Journal of Social</u> Work, 3, 109-122.

Pillow, W. (2003). Confession, catharsis, or cure? Rethinking the uses of reflexivity as methodological power in qualitative research. International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education, 16(2): 175-196.

Reinders, H. (2008). The Transformation of Human Services. <u>Journal of Intellectual Disability Research</u>, Vol.52, Prt.7.

Self, R., Rigby, A., Leggett, C., Paxton, R. (2008). Clinical Decision Support Tool: A rational needs-based approach to making clinical decisions. <u>Journal of Mental Health</u>, 17(1): 33-48.

Smith, D. E. (2001). Texts and the Ontology of Organizations and Institutions. Studies in Cults, Orgs, Socs, Vol.7, pp 159-198.

Smith, K. (2011). Occupied Spaces: Unmapping Standardized Assessments in Health and Social Service Organizations. <u>Doing Anti-Oppressive Practice: Social Justice Social Work</u>, Baines, D. Fernwood Publishing.

Somme, D., Bonin, L., Lebel, P., Hebert, R., Blanchard, F. (2009). Development of an Individualized Service Plan Tool and Rules for Case Management in Quebec. <u>Care Management Journals</u>, Vol 10, No. 3.

Tsui, M. & Cheung, C. H. (2004). Gone with the Wind: The Impacts of Managerialism on Human Services. British Journal of Social Work, Vol.34. No.3

Veterans Affairs Canada: <u>Annual Report on the Administration of the Access to Information Act. April 1 2010 – March 31, 2011.</u> http://www.veterans.gc.ca/pdf/deptReports/atip/admin-atip.pdf

Veterans Affairs Canada (2011). <u>Case Management Framework.</u> National Case Management Unit.

Veterans Affairs Canada: <u>Departmental Quarterly Financial Reports April – June 2011.</u> http://www.veterans.gc.ca/eng/department/reports/quarterly-financial-reports/2011-april-qfr#s40.

Veterans Affairs Canada (2011). <u>Guidelines for Case Planning.</u> National Case Management Unit.

Veterans Affairs Canada (2012). Staff Roles and Responsibilities: Client Service Team. Rehabilitation and Case Management Directorate.

Veterans Affairs Canada (2011). Improving Service to Canada's Veterans. <u>Road to 2015-2016</u>.

Veterans Affairs Canada (2011). Workload Intensity Tools. <u>National Case Management Unit</u>.